NUMERICAL TREATMENT OF NON-LINEAR SINGULAR PERTURBATION PROBLEMS

by

ALBERT SHIKONGO

A thesis submitted in fulfillment of the requirements for

the degree of

UNIVERSITY of the Magister Scientiae

in the

Department of Mathematics and Applied Mathematics University of the Western Cape

Supervisor: Dr. Kailash C. Patidar

November 2007

Abstract

NUMERICAL TREATMENT OF NON-LINEAR SINGULAR PERTUR-BATION PROBLEMS

A. Shikongo



This thesis deals with the design and implementation of some novel numerical methods for nonlinear singular perturbations problems (NSPPs). We provide a survey of asymptotic and numerical methods for some NSPPs in past decade. By considering two test problems, rigorous asymptotic analysis is carried out. Based on this analysis, suitable numerical methods are designed, analyzed and implemented in order to have some relevant results of physical importance. Since the asymptotic analysis provides only qualitative information, the focus is more on the numerical analysis of the problem which provides the quantitative information.

Keywords: Non-linear Singular Perturbation Problems, Asymptotic Analysis, Numerical Analysis, Fitted Mesh Finite Difference Methods, Fitted Operator Finite Difference Methods, Stability, Error Estimates, Convergence, Enzyme Kinetics.

November 2007

Declaration

I declare that *Numerical Treatment of non-linear Singular Perturbation Problems* is my own work, that it has not been submitted before for any degree or examination in any other university, and that all the sources I have used or quoted have been indicated and acknowledged as complete references.



WESTERN CAPE

Albert Shikongo

November 2007

Signed:....

Acknowledgment

It is my pleasure to acknowledge Dr. Kailash C. Patidar with gratitude for his modern and advanced supervision.

I wish to thank the University of the Western Cape, in particular, the Department of Mathematics and Applied Mathematics, for providing facilities and atmosphere to conduct this work.

UNIVERSITY of the

I am also grateful to my fellow students especially to this great son of Africa Mr Justin B. Munyakazi and to Ms Jo-Anne Wyngaardt for all kind of support that they have provided me.

Finally I wish to thank the University of Namibia for its undoubtedly financial support for my studies and hope it will continue to do so for my further studies in the near future.

Last but not least I would like to thank my parents, sisters and brothers for their prayers, inspiring motivations and support.

Albert Shikongo

Contents

List of Figures				
List of Tables			viii	
List of Publications		ix		
1	Inti	roduction	1	
	1.1	Nonlinear Singular Perturbation Problems	2	
	1.2	Problems Associated With the Non-linear Singular Perturbation Prob-		
		lems	2	
	1.3	Some Basic Methods for Solving Non-linear Singular Perturbation Prob-		
		lems	4	
		1.3.1 Asymptotic Methods	4	
		1.3.2 Numerical Methods	5	
	1.4	Some Models Describing Non-linear Singularly Perturbed Problems .	6	
	1.5	Literature	9	
		1.5.1 Research Works Consisting of Asymptotic Approaches	9	
		1.5.2 Research Works Consisting of Numerical Approaches	13	
	1.6	Scope of this Thesis	21	

	1.7	Summary	22
2	Asy	mptotic Analysis for a Model Problem	23
	2.1	Construction of the Outer Solution	24
	2.2	Prediction of the Boundary Layer	28
	2.3	Width of the Layer	28
	2.4	Summary	29
3	Res	ults on the Existence and Uniqueness of the Solution	31
	3.1	Some Theoretical Results	31
	3.2	Summary	37
4	Fitt	ed Mesh Finite Difference Method for the Model Problem	38
	4.1	Fitted Mesh Finite Difference Method	41
	4.2	Analysis of the Fitted Mesh Finite Difference Methods	43
	4.3	Numerical Results	43
	4.4	Summary	44
5	Fitt	ed Operator Finite Difference Methods for a Problem Arising in	L
	Enz	zyme Kinetics	46
	5.1	Problem Description	47
	5.2	Dimensional Analysis	49
	5.3	Prediction of the Boundary Layer	50
		5.3.1 Stability of Critical Points of the Continuous System	51
	5.4	Fitted Operator Finite Difference Method	52
	5.5	Analysis of the Fitted Operator Finite Difference Method	53
		5.5.1 Stability of Fixed Points of the Discrete System	53

		5.5.2 Convergence of the Fitted Operator Finite Difference Methods	54		
	5.6	Numerical Results	54		
	5.7	Summary	55		
6	Con	clusion and Future Plans	57		
A	Appendix A				

Bibliography

61



UNIVERSITY of the WESTERN CAPE

List of Figures

3



WESTERN CAPE

List of Tables

- 5.1 Maximum errors obtained via FOFDM (for x-component) 56



Publications: A part of this thesis has been submitted in form of the following research reports whose modified versions are being submitted as research paper(s) to some international journals for publication:

- K.C. Patidar and A. Shikongo, Some non-linear singular perturbation models and techniques for their solution, Report Nr. UWC-MRR 2006/06, University of the Western Cape, December 2006.
- K.C. Patidar and A. Shikongo, A novel numerical method for solving a non-linear singular perturbation problem arising in enzyme kinetics, Report Nr. UWC-MRR 2007/04, University of the Western Cape, November 2007.



Chapter 1

Introduction

Nonlinear Singular Perturbation Problems (SPPs) governing mathematical models appear in many interesting applications in engineering fields. H. L. Dryden describes it in his National Advisory Committee for Aeronautics, Washington 25, D.C. that the concept of the boundary layer is diffused into mechanical engineering, hydraulics and chemical engineering. Similarly, studies of heat transfer, diffusion, and evaporation in moving fluids were greatly aided by the knowledge of the boundary layer flow.

The above information indicates that there has been some successful interaction between scientists and engineers which has resulted in an almost exponential growth of research on boundary layer flow in recent years. To this end, it will be paramount to highlight an account of some recent developments (both theoretical and applied) on non-linear singular perturbation models. We include some of the works that use the singular perturbation techniques to solve some other problems in recent years. Such inclusions are limited due to the non-availability of literature and therefore, we apologize if there are any omissions.

1.1 Nonlinear Singular Perturbation Problems

Consider the following ordinary differential equation (ODE)

$$a_n(x)\frac{d^n y}{dx^n} + a_{n-1}(x)\frac{d^{n-1}y}{dx^{n-1}} + \dots + a_1(x)\frac{dy}{dx} + a_0(x)y = g(x), \quad n \in Z^+.$$

An ODE which cannot be expressed in the form of the above ODE is called a nonlinear ODE.

If $0 < \varepsilon << 1$ (known as the singular perturbation parameter) is multiplied to the highest derivative term of a non-linear ODE, then such a problem is known as a non-linear SPP provided that the following condition holds

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} y(x,\varepsilon) \neq y_{reduced}(x)$$

(where $y(x,\varepsilon)$ and $y_{reduced}(x)$ denote the solutions to a non-linear SPP when $0 < \varepsilon << 1$ and $\varepsilon = 0$ respectively), in the sense that its solution has an asymptotic expansion (c.f. Appendix A) that is not uniformly valid in the domain of interest. The part of the domain where the two solutions do not agree constitutes the layer region. When a layer is located near the boundary, the SPP is referred as a boundary layer problem, whereas if the layer is located inside the domain of interest, the SPP is known as an interior layer problem. These layers become very sharp as $\varepsilon \to 0$. See Figure 1.1 for the case of boundary layers.

1.2 Problems Associated With the Non-linear Singular Perturbation Problems

There are two major problems inherent in a non-linear SPP. The first is the layer issue whereas the second one is the type of non-linearity which could be



Figure 1.1: Profiles of the left and right boundary layer functions: $\exp(-x/\varepsilon)$ and $\exp(-(1-x)/\varepsilon)$, for different values of ε . Total grid points taken in each case are 100.

- smooth analytical functions such as powers, sinusoids and exponentials.
- bilinear terms consisting of state variables multiplied by independent variables
- a set of linear relations valid in different regions.

Depending on each case, the solution profile change significantly and therefore additional care is required in designing appropriate numerical methods.

1.3 Some Basic Methods for Solving Non-linear Singular Perturbation Problems

Methods that are devised for solving non-linear SPPs (NSSPs) can broadly be classified into Asymptotic methods which are Qualitative methods and the Numerical methods which are Quantitative methods. (The words Qualitative and Quantitative are self-explanatory.) We discuss both of these approaches.

1.3.1 Asymptotic Methods

There are several asymptotic methods available in the literature to approximate the solution of non-linear SPPs. However the most widely used ones are the following two:

• The Method of Multiple Scales. When applied to a SPP, this method yields a single solution valid in the entire domain of interest. Instead of being saddled with the deficiencies of stability theory in dynamic stability analysis one may use the Method of Multiple Scale to analyze a model equation for linear or non-linear dynamic stability. • The Method of Matched Asymptotic Expansions. Matched asymptotic expansions yield two solutions, known as inner and outer solutions. The method is much useful when one wishes to investigate these two solutions in their own right. The inner solution can be matched with the outer solution using the Van Dyke matching principle and composite expansions can then be obtained which are valid in the entire domain. It has been discovered that they are quite successful in the calculation of both the free stream and boundary layer solutions for viscous flow past a body at high Reynolds number or Stokes' and Oseen's problems for flow at low Reynolds number.

Further discussion about above two approaches is postponed until Chapter 2 where we use the method of multiple scales to obtain the width of the boundary layer whereas the methods of matched asymptotic expansion is used to obtain the composite expansion.

In Chapter 2 we have applied asymptotic analysis to a model problem to obtain qualitative information about the solution of a non-linear SPP.

1.3.2 Numerical Methods

Because of the complex nature of the associated terms in the NSPPs, closed form solutions are not easily obtainable and one has to go for some approximation methods. Though the asymptotic methods do provide such approximate solutions but no quantitative information can be obtained with these approaches and therefore one need to use one of the following popular numerical methods.

- Finite Difference Methods
- Finite Element Methods

• Spline Approximation Methods.

Further details about some of these numerical approaches will be provided in forthcoming chapters.

1.4 Some Models Describing Non-linear Singularly Perturbed Problems

We list some models in which non-linear singular perturbations problems feature.

1. Non-premixed combustion [118].

and



Here ε (assumed to be very small) is a ratio of diffusive effects to the speed of reaction, and t is a distance coordinate, chosen so that t = 0 is the location of the flame, where the fuel and the oxidizer meet each other and react. The functions y - t and y + t represent the mass fractions of fuel and oxidizer, respectively.

2. A catalytic reaction theory [3]. This physical problem involves an isothermal reaction $A \rightarrow B$ which is catalyzed in a pallet of length two. The equation that describes the mass balance between diffusion and reaction inside of the pellet is

$$y'' = \Phi^2 R(y), \ 0 < t < 1,$$

where y is the normalized concentration of the reactant A, t is the (dimensionless) distance from the center of the pellet (t = 0) to the mouth (t = 1), Φ is the Thiele modulus which measures the effect of diffusion as opposed to reaction, and R(y) is the reaction rate term. In particular, Φ^2 is proportional to $\frac{k}{D}$, where D is the diffusion coefficient and k the reaction rate constant.

3. Steady state flow [28]. The steady-state flow pattern arising from the injection of a gas at supersonic velocity into a duct of uniform or diverging cross-sectional area when a back pressure is applied. Complications such as the effect of viscous stresses on the duct walls is neglected, and the gas is assumed to be perfect and polytrophic. The time-independent laws of conservation of mass, momentum and energy can be expressed in the following dimensionless form by referring all quantities to appropriate lengths, physical constants and upstream conditions:

$$\frac{dy}{dx(\rho yA)} = 0,$$

we strence and $\frac{dy}{dx} + (\gamma \rho)^{-1} \frac{d}{dx}(\rho T) = \mu \rho^{-1} \frac{d^2 y}{dx^2}$

and

$$y\frac{dT}{dx} + (\gamma - 1)T\left[\frac{dy}{dx} + y\frac{d}{dx}(\ln A)\right] - \gamma(\gamma - 1)\frac{\mu}{\rho}\left(\frac{dy}{dx}\right)^2 = \frac{\mu\gamma}{\rho p_r}\frac{d^2T}{dx^2}$$

Here x is the dimensionless distance measured from the entrance of the duct, y is the dimensionless velocity of the gas relative to the velocity of sound, ρ is the density, γ is the adiabatic index with a value between 1 and $\frac{5}{3}$, T is the dimensionless cross-sectional area of the duct relative to the area of the duct entrance. 4. Catalytic reaction [92]. A fixed-bed reactor packed with catalyst in the presence of axial diffusion. The boundary-value problem for the dimensionless concentration γ is then

$$\varepsilon y'' = y' + g(y), \ 0 < x < 1$$

with

$$y(0,\varepsilon) - p_1 y'(0,\varepsilon) = A, \ y(1,\varepsilon) = p_2 y'(1,\varepsilon) = B,$$

where x is the dimensionless axial coordinate, ε is the reciprocal of the Pećlet number (the diffusional analogy of the Reynolds number), and g is the reaction rate term, of the form $g(y) = y^n$ for an n-th order reaction. The positive terms $p_1 = p_1(\varepsilon)$ and $p_2 = p_2(\varepsilon)$ are mass transport coefficients. If the axial diffusion is weak then ε is small, and the Robin problem is singularly perturbed.

5. Chemical reaction [115]. The model

$$\varepsilon y'' = \varepsilon \Theta (1 + \Theta \gamma)^{-1} y'^2 + y^r (1 + \Theta y), \quad 0 < t < 1,$$

with

$$-y(0,\varepsilon) = 0, \ y(1,\varepsilon) + \sum y'(1,\varepsilon) = 1$$

describes a chemical reaction accompanied by a change in volume [115]. (Note that \sum is the reciprocal of the Sherwood number and not the usual summation notation). More precisely, y represents the dimensionless concentration of a gas A undergoing an isothermal reaction on a flat plate catalytic surface, namely $A \rightarrow Bn$. The variable t is the normalized distance from a plane of symmetry to the edge of the reaction. As before, the parameter ε is the reciprocal of the square of the Thiele modulus, and the parameter $\theta \approx n-1$ is the volume change modulus. For simplicity, the reaction is assumed to be of integral order $l \geq 1$. Some other interesting models can be found in [26].

It should be noted that the methods presented in forthcoming chapters can be experimented for above models after some suitable modifications.

1.5 Literature

For the sake of simplicity, we broadly classify the literature (in the past few years) as the articles based on asymptotic methods and those based on numerical methods. The works are presented chronologically.

1.5.1 Research Works Consisting of Asymptotic Approaches

In this sub-section we list the works which contain one or more than one type of asymptotic approaches.

Using perturbation analysis, Fitt et al. [41] discussed the propagation of a onedimensional, fluid-filled crack in a hot dry rock geothermal energy reservoir. The model contains a dimensionless parameter that measures the relative importance of stresses due to local deformation of asperities and the long-range deformation of the crack surface. They found that for some combinations of laws a strained-coordinate analysis is required, whilst for others a matched asymptotic approach is needed.

Happawana et al. [51] established a closed form asymptotically valid solution for the non-similar normal modes for the strongly non-linear discrete system. The equation governing the existence of the non-linear normal mode for the system is singular at the boundaries and depends on a small mistuning parameter. The singularity in the sequence of linear problems obtained for an asymptotic approximation of the solution satisfies conditions for linear differential equations with regular points. Thus, the series equations methodology for linear differential equations with regular singular points to solve the non-linear problem is implemented.

Bouyekhf [21] dealt with the singular perturbations theory for discrete-time nonlinear systems. In the first part of the paper a foundation of the method is presented and the proof of the approximations is established. The second part is concerned with an asymptotic expansion for the solution in terms of an outer expansion and a boundary layer correction. The perturbation method is justified by showing that it is equivalent to finding the Taylor expansions of the slow and fast solutions in the decomposition of the solution of the whole system.

Fu and Chen [42], studied the two-point boundary-value optimal problem of a class of non-linear singularly perturbed systems, and gave asymptotic analysis of this class of non-linear systems under composite control, which is the sum of a reduced optimal control, a left boundary layer stabilizing control and a right boundary layer stabilizing control. They showed that the application of composite control results in a final state that is close to the desired state, and in a value of the cost that is close to the optimal cost of the reduced problem. The mid-course guidance system of air-to-ground missiles was used as a numerical example. The results of simulations are in good agreement with those for optimal control.

Shi [98] studied the singular perturbations for the higher-order non-linear vector differential equation. They discussed the construction of the formal asymptotic solution for the problem, based on the O'Malley construction and obtained a uniformly valid approximation.

Weili [117] studied radially symmetric solutions for Poisson equation as the background and discussed the existence, uniqueness and asymptotic estimates of solutions of the singularly perturbed Robin problem for the general non-linear second-order ordinary differential equation with a small positive parameter.

Yan [120] considered singularly perturbed non-linear differential algebraic equations (DAE's), which are decomposed into two auxiliary problems, called the outer and inner problems, respectively. The structure of solutions of the singularity perturbed DAE's is determined by the outer and inner solutions, both of which are proved to exist. Asymptotic expansions for outer and inner solutions are obtained and proved to be uniformly convergent.

Kang [62] used the modified method of multiple scales, to investigate the nonlinear bending of a truncated shallow spherical shell of variable thickness without an indeformable rigid body at the center under linear distributed loads along the interior edge. When the geometrical parameter k is larger, the uniformly valid asymptotic solutions of this problem are obtained and the remainder terms are estimated.

Zhou et al. [123], discussed the singular perturbation of non-linear differential equation system with non-linear boundary conditions. Under suitable assumptions, with the asymptotic method of Lyusternik-Vishik and fixed point theory, the existence of the solution of the perturbation problem was proved and its valid asymptotic expansion of higher order was derived.

Belolipetskij [11] studied the problem of cooling a thin-wall sphere filled by a gas for the case of the external heat conducting medium. The mathematical model of this process is the non-linear initial problem for the singular perturbed semilinear equation of thermal conductivity. The analytical dependence of the cooling time on problem parameters is obtained by asymptotic methods.

Evkin and Kalamkarov [39], applied the singular perturbation method in combination with the variational method to the general Reissner's equations describing axially symmetric large deflections of thin composite shells of revolution with varying material and geometrical parameters in meridian direction. The obtained asymptotic non-linear boundary-value problem is significantly simpler in comparison with the original one. The asymptotic model has the following advantages: Number of the geometrical and stiffness parameters of shell is effectively reduced, and singularities are eliminated without loss of the accuracy of the solution. The simple asymptotic formulae have been derived in case of completed shells.

Garbey [45] presented several applications of (local) Fourier basis combined with corrector techniques via the superposition principle to compute solutions of boundaryvalue problems. Their methodology is inspired by the well-known corrector technique used in asymptotic singular perturbation theory, see, for example, [36]. They built solvers for time dependent boundary-value problems and singular perturbation problems using Fourier expansions combined to additional convenient set of time independent basis functions to enforce the boundary conditions. The algorithms are very well suited for parallel computing because they rely mainly on FFTs and basis functions given analytically or computed (in parallel) once and for all.

Van Horssen [108] presented a perturbation method based on integrating vectors and multiple scales for singularly perturbed systems of ordinary differential equations. It was shown how asymptotic approximations for first integrals for such systems can be constructed on long time-scales. To show how this perturbation method actually works, the method was applied to a linear spring-mass system, to a first order linear ordinary differential equation, and to a non-linear spring-mass system.

Wang and Jin [113], studied a third order singularly perturbed boundary-value problem by means of differential inequality theories. Based on the given results of second order non-linear boundary-value problem, the upper and lower solutions method of third order non-linear boundary-value problems was established by making use of Volterra type integral operator. Specific upper and lower solutions were constructed, and existence and asymptotic estimates of solutions under suitable conditions were obtained. The result shows that it seems to be new to apply these techniques to solving these kinds of third order singularly perturbed boundary-value problem. An example was given to demonstrate the applications.

Djennoune and Bettayeb [32] investigated a balancing method for a class of nonlinear singularly perturbed systems. The main result presented there shows that the well-known 'two-stages' strategy used with singular perturbations in control theory can be extended to compute a balancing form of non-linear singularly perturbed systems.

Gaitsgory and Nguyen [43], developed an averaging technique for non-linear multiscale singularly perturbed control systems. Issues concerning the existence and structure of limit occupational measures sets generated by such systems are discussed. General results are illustrated with special cases.

WESTERN CAPE

1.5.2 Research Works Consisting of Numerical Approaches

In this sub-section we list the works which contain one or more than one type of numerical approaches.

In [40], Ezzine and Ben-Daya explored the continuous realizations of iterative processes emanating from interior point optimization algorithms, and their connection with non-linear singularly-perturbed ordinary differential equations. This mathematical connection provides a theoretical framework for the analysis of the dynamical properties long known and exploited in interior point-based optimization techniques. In addition, this connection is used to show that the logarithmic barrier function is indeed, in some sense, optimum. Taiwo [102] presented a parameter expansion method for two-point non-linear singularly perturbed boundary-value problem for second order ordinary differential equation. Newton's linearization scheme is used to linearize the non-linear problems. In Okoro et al. (Ref.[1] in the above paper) linear problems were treated. The numerical results obtained for some examples show that the parameter expansion becomes more accurate as the value of epsilon approaches zero when compared with the standard collocation method, at no extra computational effort. For favourable problems to exponential fitting reported in Ref.[2] in [102], the proposed method in this paper is less accurate. It is however more general in application than the exponential fitting.

Pan et al. [86] investigated the stabilization problem of two classes of non-linear singularly perturbed systems via dynamic output feedback. Firstly, they consider the non-linear singularly perturbed systems in which the non-linearities are continuously differentiable. Secondly, they examined the non-linear singularly perturbed systems in which the non-linearities are not necessarily continuously differentiable but satisfy the global Lipschitz condition. Combining the dynamic output feedback controller that stabilizes the reduced-order model of the linear part of the non-linear singularly perturbed system with the quasi-stability result of Persidskii, they proposed a twostep compensating scheme to stabilize the original non-linear singularly perturbed system under consideration for a sufficiently small ε .

Bouyekhf and Moudni [21] introduced a model of singular perturbation for discretetime non-linear systems. This paper is aimed at validating the proposed model. In fact, a discrete version of the well-known Tikhonov's theorem on singular perturbation of continuous-time systems is established. The second aim is to study stability problems of such systems. Sufficient conditions for both asymptotic and exponential stability are obtained. As a result, significant order reduction of stability problems is achieved. This is achieved by allowing a small parameter whose upper bound is estimated. Finally a simple example is given to illustrate the applications of the results.

Huang [56] dealt with the boundary-value problem for second order singularly perturbed non-linear system by the technique and method of diagonalization. The existence of the solution and its asymptotic properties were discussed for some special cases.

Bagagiolo and Bardi [8] studied the singular perturbation of optimal control problems for non-linear systems with constraints on the fast state variables and a cost functional either of Bolza type or involving the exit time of the system from a given domain. Under a controllability assumption on the fast variables, they show that these variables become controls in the limit problem. Their method consists of passing to the limit in the associated Hamilton-Jacobi-Bellman (HJB) equations by means of some tools in the theory of viscosity solutions.

Bouyekhf and Moudni [22] treated a class of discrete-time non-linear systems which have two-time-scales. Using the singular perturbation theory in a systematic way, they presented a mode-decoupling approach which yields two separate subsystems containing the slow and fast parts. Furthermore, they presented a two-time-scale analysis and design procedure for stabilization and regulation.

Budd et al. [20] studied the effect of using grid adaptation on the numerical solution of model convection-diffusion equations with a conservation form. The grid adaptation technique studied is based on moving a fixed number of mesh points to equidistribute a generalization of the arc-length of the solution. In particular, a parameter-dependent monitor function is introduced which incorporates fixed meshes, approximate arc-length equidistribution, and equidistribution of the absolute value of the solution, in a single framework. Thus the resulting numerical method is a coupled non-linear system of equations for the mesh spacings and the nodal values.

Djennoune et al. [31] investigated digital implementation of continuous-time composite control feedback for a class of non-linear singularly perturbed systems. Although starting with a stabilizing control feedback, the sampling process may destroy the stability properties of the resulting closed-loop system. In this paper, multi-rate measurements (slow variables are measured at a rate slower than that of fast variables) are considered. Sufficient conditions on the slow and fast sampling periods, which preserve exponential stability properties, are established.

Kanzawa and Oishi [63] defined a new concept of an imperfect singular solution as an approximate solution which becomes a singular solution by adding a suitable small perturbation to the original equations. A numerical method is presented for proving the existence of imperfect singular solutions of non-linear equations with guaranteed accuracy. A few numerical examples are also presented for illustration.

Liu and Pan [73], extended Ortiz and Samara's operational approach to the Tau Method to the numerical solution of systems of linear and non-linear ordinary differential equations (ODEs), together with initial or boundary conditions. They lead to accurate results through the use of simple algorithms. A Tau software called TAUSYS3 for mixed-order systems of ODEs was written based on this approach. In this paper they gave a brief description of the Tau Method, the structure of the Tau program, and the testing of the TAUSYS3. They considered several examples and report results of high accuracy. These include linear and non-linear, stiff and singular perturbation problems for ordinary and systems of ordinary differential equations in which the solution may not be unique. Bensassi et al. [12] investigated the problem of constructing the discretized and decomposed system for a singularly perturbed non-linear continuous-time system. Thus, they use two schemes namely decomposition-discretization and discretizationdecomposition. By using two discretization methods inspired from Euler's methodology they illustrate the decomposition of system by means of two periods (fast and slow), and a method for the choice of these periods is given. The comparison of the obtained subsystems from each scheme leads them to propose two different designs of multi-rate digital controls.

Grammel and Shi [48], investigated the problem of asymptotics of Lyapunov exponents for a class of singularly perturbed non-linear systems. They defined the maximal and minimal Lyapunov exponents for the underlying systems and show, via an averaging technique, that under certain conditions, the extremal Lyapunov exponents of the original system converge to the extremal Lyapunov exponents of the averaged slow subsystem when the singular perturbation parameter tends to zero. For low-dimensional systems, the existence of Lipschitz, continuous composite state feedbacks, which asymptotically provide the minimal Lyapunov exponents, can be shown. An example is given to illustrate the potential of the proposed technique and show that the designed controller is robust for sufficiently small perturbations.

Tuan and Hosoe [106], proposed a direct approach to the Lur'e problem for singularly perturbed systems (SPS). In contrast to previous results, the feedback connection between the linear and non-linear parts of SPS is allowed to depend essentially on both the slow and the fast variables. The Lur'e problem for multi-parameter SPS (MSPS) is studied by the same framework.

Bouyekhf et al. [16] studied a class of discrete-time non-linear systems which depend on a small parameter. Using the singular perturbation theory in a systematic way, they gave a trajectory approximation result based on the decomposition of the model into reduced and boundary layer models. This decomposition is used to analyze optimal control via maximum principle of such systems. As a result, significant order reduction of optimal control problems is achieved.

Suzuki [101] studied singular perturbation problem for non-linear difference equations with a small parameter. He considered analytic solutions for the systems and apply the theorem of boundary layer corrections for singular perturbation problem for differential equations to the difference systems.

Van Horssen [108] developed a perturbation method based on integrating vectors for initial value problems for regularly and singularly perturbed, weakly non-linear ordinary differential equations. In this paper they gave an overview of earlier results and discussed the possibilities to apply this perturbation method to other problems.

Wang and Hu [112], presented a new approach, based on the center manifold theorem, to reducing the dimension of non-linear time-delay systems composed of both stiff and soft substructures. To complete the reduction process, the dynamic equation of a delayed system is first formulated as a set of singularly perturbed equations that exhibit dynamic behavior evolving in two different time scales.

Assawinchaichote and Nguang [6], considered the problem of designing a fuzzy observer-based controller for a class of non-linear singularly perturbed systems described by Takagi-Sugeno-Kang (TSK) fuzzy model. Fast and slow decomposition approach is utilized to derive a fuzzy observer-based controller which stabilizes this class of singularly perturbed non-linear systems.

Cakir and Amiraliyev [25], presented a singularly perturbed boundary-value problem with nonlocal conditions. The appropriate solution exhibits boundary layer behavior for small positive values of the perturbation parameter. An exponentially fitted finite difference scheme on a non-equidistant mesh is constructed for solving this problem. The uniform convergence analysis in small parameter is given.

Kadalbajoo and Patidar [59, 60] used "spline in tension" and "spline in compression" to solve singularly perturbed non-linear two point boundary-value problems.

Kelley [66] discussed the problem of computing approximations of solutions of singularly perturbed two-point boundary-value problems which possesses the square of the first derivative. It was assumed that the quadratic term was a full participant in the differential equation. The analysis showed the use of method of super and subsolutions to verify the approximations which gave unified approach to the analysis of quadratic, quasilinear and semilinear problems.

Boglaev [17] dealt with discrete monotone iterative algorithms for solving a nonlinear singularly perturbed parabolic reaction-diffusion problem. Firstly, the monotone method (known as the method of lower and upper solutions) is applied to computing a non-linear difference scheme obtained after discretization of the continuous problem. Secondly, a monotone domain decomposition algorithm based on a modification of the Schwartz alternating method is constructed. This monotone algorithm solves only linear discrete systems at each iterative step of the iterative process. The rate of convergence of the monotone domain decomposition algorithm is estimated. Numerical experiments are presented.

Bykov et al. [24] considered the problem of a pressure-driven flame in an inert porous medium filled with a flammable gaseous mixture. In the frame of reference attached to an advancing combustion wave and after a suitable non-dimensionalization the corresponding mathematical description of the problem includes three highly nonlinear ordinary differential equations. The system is rewritten in the form of a singularly perturbed system of ordinary differential equations and is analyzed analytically by the geometrical version of the asymptotic method of integral manifolds. They also provide some numerical results validating the theoretical outcomes.

Jorge and Bujanda [58], presented their new methods to integrate efficiently reaction-diffusion parabolic problems with non-linear reaction terms. In order to obtain uniform and unconditional convergence, such methods combine the advantages of alternating direction methods, the additive Runge-Kutta methods designed by Cooper and Sayfy for non-linear stiff problems as well as the use of Shishkin meshes in the singularly perturbed case. The resulting algorithms are only linearly implicit and they have the same order of computational complexity, per time step, that any explicit method has. They show some numerical experiences which illustrate the good properties of their schemes predicted by the theoretical results.

Kopteva and Stynes [69], considered a non-linear reaction-diffusion two-point boundary-value problem with multiple solutions. Its second-order derivative is multiplied by a small positive parameter epsilon, which induces boundary layers. Using dynamical systems techniques, asymptotic properties of its discrete sub- and super-solutions are derived. These properties are used to investigate the accuracy of solutions of a standard three-point difference scheme on layer-adapted meshes of Bakhvalov and Shishkin types.

Wang [114] presented a boundary-value method for solving a class of non-linear, singularly perturbed two-point boundary-value problems with a boundary layer at the left of the underlying interval. This method is based on ideas of singular perturbation analysis by constructing a modified problem with a boundary layer correction. He dealt with the boundary layer separately, and used a series method. The condition at infinity is applied to the corresponding Padé approximates of the obtained series solution. Boglaev [15] dealt with discrete monotone iterative algorithms for solving a nonlinear singularly perturbed convection-diffusion problem. A block monotone domain decomposition algorithm based on a Schwartz alternating method and on block iterative scheme is constructed. This monotone algorithm solves only linear discrete systems at each iterative step of the iterative process and converges monotonically to the exact solution of the non-linear problem. He also estimated the rate of convergence of the block monotone domain decomposition algorithm.

The other interesting articles which the readers may find interesting are [27, 29, 61, 64, 70, 80, 97].

1.6 Scope of this Thesis

It is also evident that the works under asymptotic methods are less compared to those of the numerical methods. This is due to the fact that a lot of difficulties arise in developing asymptotic solutions. No matter how complicated the process becomes, the resulting solution is mostly a qualitative one. It is only semi-quantitative and that is what necessitates the appropriate numerical methods. However, these asymptotic approaches are still of great importance because the little information which one can gather about the qualitative features of the solutions helps a lot in the construction of sophisticated numerical softwares. To this end, we provide details on how to develop asymptotic analysis for particular problems in Chapter 2, and thus in Chapter 4, we design and experiment a novel numerical method whereas some theoretical results are presented in Chapter 3. To extend our ideas and approaches, we solve another problem in Chapter 5 which arise in enzyme kinetics where again the essential qualitative information is obtained via asymptotic analysis and then reliable numerical methods are devised. Finally we conclude the contents and main outcomes in this thesis in Chapter 6 where we also indicate our future research plans.

1.7 Summary

We have explained in this chapter, what is meant by a non-linear singular perturbation problem and presented some models governing non-linear singularly perturbed phenomena from the literature. Then a literature review is provided where we considered the works based on both the asymptotic and the numerical approaches for their solution.

Based on the survey of the research works in recent years, it is clear that nonlinear SPPs are part and parcel of most of the real life problems. Such non-linear SPPs are solved as part of many simulations of physical processes. The scope of this thesis is also indicated in this chapter.

WESTERN CAPE

Chapter 2

Asymptotic Analysis for a Model Problem



In this chapter we discuss the importance of the asymptotic analysis by considering a particular non-linear singular perturbation problem. We provide necessary details for this problem. However, an extensive amount of work (involving asymptotic analysis) can be found in [82].

The asymptotic analysis

- provides qualitative information about the solution
- provides way(s) to determine the location of the layer(s)
- helps us to determine the width of the layer(s).

To explain the procedure, we consider the following singularly perturbed non-linear two-point boundary-value problem

$$\varepsilon y'' + yy' - xy = 0, \tag{2.1}$$

$$y(0) = \alpha \text{ and } y(1) = \beta, \qquad (2.2)$$

where $0 < \varepsilon \ll 1$, and α , β are real numbers independent of ε .

Since ε is multiplied to the highest derivative term, boundary layer(s) is (are) expected. However, the location of the layer depends on the sign of the coefficient y of y'. But y is a function of its values α and β at the boundaries, therefore the location of the layer(s) depends(s) on the values of α and β .

2.1 Construction of the Outer Solution

We construct the outer solution y^0 by using asymptotic expansions,

$$y_{as} := y(x,\varepsilon) = \sum_{j=0}^{k} \varepsilon^{j} y_{j}(x), \qquad (2.3)$$

where $k \in \mathbb{Z}^+$.

Plugging (2.3) into the equation (2.1) and in the boundary conditions (2.2), we obtained the following (when k = 1)

$$\varepsilon \frac{d^2}{dx^2} \left(\sum_{j=0}^1 \varepsilon^j y_j(x) \right) + \sum_{j=0}^1 \varepsilon^j y_j(x) \frac{d}{dx} \left(\sum_{j=0}^1 \varepsilon^j y_j(x) \right) - x \sum_{j=0}^1 \varepsilon^j y_j(x) = 0$$

with

$$\sum_{j=0}^{1} \varepsilon^{j} y_{j}(0) = \alpha \text{ and } \sum_{j=0}^{1} \varepsilon^{j} y_{j}(1) = \beta.$$

$$(2.4)$$

Further simplifications yield

$$\varepsilon[\varepsilon^0 y_0''(x) + \varepsilon y_1''(x)] + [\varepsilon^0 y_0(x) + \varepsilon y_1(x)][\varepsilon^0 y_0'(x) + \varepsilon y_1'(x)] - x[\varepsilon^0 y_0(x) + \varepsilon y_1(x)] = 0$$

and

$$\varepsilon^0 y_0(0) + \varepsilon y_1(0) = \alpha \text{ and } \varepsilon^0 y_0(1) + \varepsilon y_1(1) = \beta.$$
 (2.5)

Now we equate the coefficients of like powers of ε .

Coefficients of ε^0 :

$$y_0(x)y_0'(x) - xy_0(x) = 0 (2.6)$$

and

$$y_0(0) = \alpha \text{ and } y_0(1) = \beta.$$
 (2.7)

Coefficients of ε^1 :

$$y_0''(x) + y_0'(x)y_1(x) + y_0(x)y_1'(x) - xy_1(x) = 0$$
(2.8)

and

$$y_1(0) = 0$$
 and $y_1(1) = 0.$ (2.9)

Solving (2.6) we obtained two corresponding solutions of y_0 :

WESTERN CAPE

$$y_0(x) = 0 (2.10)$$

and

$$y_0(x) = \frac{x^2}{2} + c_0. \tag{2.11}$$

We see that (2.10) does not satisfy the general boundary conditions and therefore it must be dropped.

Imposing the associated boundary conditions on the second solution we obtained

$$y_0(x) = \frac{x^2}{2} + \alpha \tag{2.12}$$

and

$$y_0(x) = \frac{x^2}{2} + \beta - \frac{1}{2}.$$
(2.13)

Coefficients of ε^1 :

$$y_0''(x) + y_0'(x)y_1(x) + y_0(x)y_1'(x) - xy_1(x) = 0$$
(2.14)

Using (2.12) into (2.14) we find

$$y_1'(x) = -\frac{2}{x^2 + 2x}.$$
(2.15)

Integrating equation (2.15) we obtain

$$y_1(x) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{\sqrt{-2\alpha}} \ln \left| \frac{x + \sqrt{-2\alpha}}{x - \sqrt{-2\alpha}} \right| + c_1 & \text{if } \alpha < 0\\ -\frac{2}{x} + c_1 & \text{if } \alpha = 0\\ -\frac{1}{\alpha} \left[\arctan \left(\frac{x}{\sqrt{2\alpha}} \right) + c_1 \right] & \text{if } \alpha > 0 \end{cases}$$
(2.16)

where c_1 is a real constant. Imposing the associated boundary condition on (2.16) we find at x = 0

$$c_{1} = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } \alpha < 0 \\ \text{undefined} & \text{if } \alpha = 0 \\ 0 & \text{if } \alpha > 0 \end{cases}$$
(2.17)

and at x = 1

$$c_{1} = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{\sqrt{-2\alpha}} \ln \left| \frac{1+\sqrt{-2\alpha}}{1-\sqrt{-2\alpha}} \right| & \text{if } \alpha < 0\\ 2 & \text{if } \alpha = 0\\ -\frac{1}{\alpha} \left[\arctan\left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{2\alpha}}\right) \right] & \text{if } \alpha > 0. \end{cases}$$
(2.18)
Hence

$$y_1(x) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{\sqrt{-2\alpha}} \ln \left| \frac{x + \sqrt{-2\alpha}}{x - \sqrt{-2\alpha}} \right| & \text{if } \alpha < 0\\ -\frac{1}{\alpha} \arctan \left(\frac{x}{\sqrt{2\alpha}} \right) & \text{if } \alpha > 0 \end{cases}$$
(2.19)

and

$$y_1(x) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{\sqrt{-2\alpha}} \ln \left| \frac{x + \sqrt{-2\alpha}}{x - \sqrt{-2\alpha}} \right| - \frac{1}{\sqrt{-2\alpha}} \ln \left| \frac{1 + \sqrt{-2\alpha}}{1 - \sqrt{-2\alpha}} \right| & \text{if } \alpha < 0\\ 2 & \text{if } \alpha = 0\\ -\frac{1}{\alpha} \left[\arctan\left(\frac{x}{\sqrt{2\alpha}}\right) \right] + \frac{1}{\alpha} \arctan\left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{2\alpha}}\right) & \text{if } \alpha > 0. \end{cases}$$
(2.20)

Equation (2.20) does not satisfy the left end boundary condition whereas equation (2.19) does satisfy the left end boundary condition. Therefore equation (2.20) must be discarded.

Hence the corresponding outer solution is given by

$$y^{0}(x) = \frac{x^{2}}{2} + \alpha + \varepsilon \begin{cases} \frac{1}{\sqrt{-2\alpha}} \ln \left| \frac{x + \sqrt{-2\alpha}}{x - \sqrt{-2\alpha}} \right| & \text{if } \alpha < 0\\ -\frac{1}{\alpha} \arctan \left(\frac{x}{\sqrt{2\alpha}} \right) & \text{if } \alpha > 0. \end{cases}$$
(2.21)

The outer solution y^0 given by (2.21) may be referred as the left outer solution of problem (2.1).

Similarly using (2.13) into (2.14) we find

$$y_1'(x) = -\frac{2}{x^2 + 2\beta - 1}.$$
(2.22)

Following the same technique as in the case of the left outer solution we find that the outer solution in this case is given by

$$y^{0}(x) = \frac{x^{2}}{2} + \beta - \frac{1}{2} + \varepsilon \begin{cases} \frac{1}{\sqrt{-(2\beta-1)}} \ln \left| \frac{x + \sqrt{-(2\beta-1)}}{x - \sqrt{-(2\beta-1)}} \right| & \text{if } (2\beta-1) < 0 \\ \\ -\frac{2}{(2\beta-1)} \arctan \left(\frac{x}{\sqrt{(2\beta-1)}} \right) & \text{if } (2\beta-1) > 0 \end{cases}$$
(2.23)

which may be referred as the right outer solution of problem (2.1).

2.2 Prediction of the Boundary Layer

The fact that (2.21) does satisfy the left end boundary condition and does not satisfy the right end boundary condition we denote it by y^l . Similarly we denote the solution in (2.23) by y^r .

If $\alpha = \beta - \frac{1}{2}$, we obtained $\varepsilon = 0$, which violates the condition imposed on ε . Therefore when $\alpha = \beta - \frac{1}{2}$ the corresponding solution must be discarded. When $\alpha \neq \beta - \frac{1}{2}$, y^r is not valid near x = 0 and y^l is not valid near x = 1, therefore y^r predicts the existence of a boundary layer near the left end boundary condition, whereas y^l predicts the existence of a boundary layer near the right end boundary condition.

UNIVERSITY of the

2.3 Width of the Layer N CAPE

To obtain the width of a boundary layer, we investigate the behaviour of the solution y in the boundary layer region and look for the matchable inner solution with the respective constructed outer solution, therefore we introduce the stretching transformations

$$\xi = \frac{x - x_b}{\varepsilon^{\nu}}$$
 and $y^i = \frac{y(x, \varepsilon)}{\varepsilon^{\lambda}}$

where $\nu > 0$, x_b denotes the transition point, (which is not known a priori) and λ is a real number. Substituting the stretching transformations into the main differential equation problem we find

$$\varepsilon^{1-2\nu+\lambda} \frac{d^2 y^i}{d\xi^2} + \varepsilon^{2\lambda-\nu} \frac{dy^i}{d\xi} - \varepsilon^{\nu+\lambda} y^i = 0.$$

If $\lambda = 0$ and using the technique of finding the matchable inner solution y^i with either outer solution, we find that $\nu = 1$ is the distinguished limit corresponding to the limiting part

$$\frac{d^2y^i}{d\xi^2} + y^i\frac{dy^i}{d\xi} = 0$$

Similarly, when $\lambda \neq 0$, and using the same technique we find the corresponding dominant part

$$\frac{d^2y^i}{d\xi^2} + y^i \frac{dy^i}{d\xi} - y^i = 0$$

has the distinguished limit $\nu = \frac{1}{3}$. In view of the technique of matching principles, the distinguished limit thus obtained predict the width of the layer(s)

$$\delta = \begin{cases} O(\varepsilon^1) & \text{if } \lambda = 0\\ O(\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{3}}) & \text{if } \lambda \neq 0. \end{cases}$$

Moreover if $\lambda \neq 0$, the limiting part is the same as (2.1). Therefore no simplification is achieved by carrying out the expansion. Hence the width of the layer corresponding to $\lambda \neq 0$ must be discarded. Therefore if the layer is near x = 0 or near x = 1, the width of the such a layer is $\delta = O(\varepsilon)$.

2.4 Summary

In this chapter, we have done necessary asymptotic analysis for a model problem and predicted the location and width of the layer. This information will be useful in constructing an appropriate mesh which is carried out in the next chapter. It should be noted that the aim of this chapter is to provide necessary information about the qualitative behaviour of the solution. Not only that we are not interested in the asymptotic solution of the problem under consideration, it is indeed difficult to find that. This is due to the fact that one again requires to solve non-linear equations while considering coefficients of various powers of ε .



Chapter 3

Results on the Existence and Uniqueness of the Solution



In this chapter we provide some results first for a quasilinear SPP and then for a general non-linear SPP. Part of the work contained in this chapter is borrowed from [35] where the detailed proofs of some of these results can be found.

3.1 Some Theoretical Results

Consider the homogeneous problem

$$\varepsilon y'' + yy' - y = 0, \quad 0 < x < 1,$$

$$y(0) = A(\varepsilon), \quad y(1) = B(\varepsilon).$$
(3.1)

Lemma 3.1. Let $y(x, \varepsilon)$ be a solution of (3.1). Then

$$\min(A(\varepsilon), B(\varepsilon) - 1) \le y(x, \varepsilon) - x \le \max(A(\varepsilon), B(\varepsilon) - 1).$$
(3.2)

Moreover, if

$$A(\varepsilon) \ge B(\varepsilon) - 1, \tag{3.3}$$

then $y(x,\varepsilon)$ is the unique solution of (3.1).

Proof. See [35].

Theorem 3.2. Suppose $y(x, \varepsilon)$ is a solution of (3.1) and

$$A(\varepsilon) \le 0, \qquad B(0) > 0. \tag{3.4}$$

If



then

 $\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} y(x,\varepsilon) = x + B(0) - 1, \quad 0 < x < 1.$ (3.6)

If

$$0 < B(0) < 1, (3.7)$$

then

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} y(x,\varepsilon) = \begin{cases} 0, & 0 < x \le 1 - B(0), \\ x + B(0) - 1, & 1 - B(0) \le x \le 1. \end{cases}$$
(3.8)

Proof. See [35].

Corollary 3.1. Suppose

$$A(0) < 0, \quad B(\varepsilon) \le 0.$$

If

$$A(0) \le -1,\tag{3.9}$$

then

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} y(x,\varepsilon) = A(0) + x.$$
(3.10)

If

$$-1 < A(0) < 0, (3.11)$$

then

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^{+}} y(x,\varepsilon) = \begin{cases} A(0) + x, & 0 \le x \le -A(0), \\ 0, & -A(0) \le x < 1. \end{cases}$$
(3.12)

Proof. See [35].

Lemma 3.3. Let $y(x, \varepsilon)$ be a solution of (3.1). Suppose

$$A(\varepsilon) < 0 < B(\varepsilon). \tag{3.13}$$

Then there is a unique point $C = C(\varepsilon)$ such that

$$y(C,\varepsilon) = 0. \tag{3.14}$$

Moreover, if

$$B(\varepsilon) - A(\varepsilon) < 1, \tag{3.15}$$

then

$$0 < y'(x,\varepsilon) \le 1, \quad 0 \le x \le 1.$$
(3.16)

If

$$B(\varepsilon) - A(\varepsilon) > 1, \tag{3.17}$$

then

$$y'(x,\varepsilon) \ge 1, \quad 0 \le x \le 1. \tag{3.18}$$

Proof. See [35].

Remark 3.4. If $B(\varepsilon) - A(\varepsilon) = 1$, then

$$y(x,\varepsilon) = A(\varepsilon) + x$$

is the unique solution of (3.1).

Theorem 3.5. Suppose there is an $\varepsilon_0 > 0$ such that (3.13) and (3.15) hold for $0 < \varepsilon \le \varepsilon_0$. Let $y(x, \varepsilon)$ be a solution of (3.1). Then $\lim_{\varepsilon_n \to 0^+} y(x, \varepsilon_n) = \begin{cases} A(0) + x, \ 0 \le x \le |A(0)|, \\ 0, \qquad |A(0)| \le x \le 1 - B(0), \\ B(0) - 1 + x, \ 1 - B(0) \le x \le 1. \end{cases}$ (3.19)

Proof. See [35].

The quasilinear equations considered above are linear in y'. In [50] Haber and Levinson (see [84] also) considered the general non-linear equation

$$\varepsilon y'' = f(x, y, y', \varepsilon), \quad 0 < x < 1,$$

$$y(0) = A, \quad y(1) = B,$$
(3.20)

where the "reduced" problem

$$f(x, Y(x), Y'(x), 0) = 0, \quad 0 < x < 1,$$

$$y(0) = A, \quad y(1) = B$$
(3.21)

has an "angular solution"

$$Y(x) = \begin{cases} Y'_L(x), & 0 \le x \le x_0, \\ Y'_R(x), & x_0 \le x \le 1, \end{cases}$$

with

$$Y_L(x_0) = Y_R(x_0), \quad Y'_L(x_0) \neq Y'_R(x_0).$$

Suppose

Theorem 3.6. [50] Suppose

UNIVERSITY of the $\mu_1 = Y'_L(x_0) < Y'_R(x_0) = \mu_2$

 $f_{y'}(x, Y_L(x), Y'_L(x), 0) \ge k_1 > 0, \quad 0 \le x \le x_0,$

$$f_{y'}(x, Y_R(x), Y'_R(x), 0) \le -k_2 < 0, \quad x_0 \le x \le 1,$$

and

$$f(x_0, Y_L(x_0), \omega, 0) > 0, \quad \mu_1 < \omega < \mu_2.$$

Then, for ε sufficiently small, there exists a solution $y(x, \varepsilon)$ of the boundary-value problem (3.20) such that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} y(x,\varepsilon) = Y(x)$$

uniformly on [0, 1] and

$$\lim_{\varepsilon_n \to 0+} y'(x, \varepsilon_n) = \begin{cases} Y'_L(x), & 0 \le x < x_0, \\ Y'_R(x), & x_0 < x \le 1 \end{cases}$$

uniformly on $[0, x_0 - \delta]$ and on $[x + \delta, 1]$ for any $\delta > 0$. Furthermore, for ε small enough,

$$\mu_1 < y'(x_0, \varepsilon) < \mu_2. \tag{3.22}$$

The solution is unique in the sense that there is no other solution of (3.20) which lies in a sufficiently small neighbourhood of Y(x) throughout [0,1] for small $\varepsilon > 0$.



Proof. See [35].

Furthermore, we have the following result.

Lemma 3.7. Suppose there is an $\varepsilon_0 > 0$ such that there exists a solution $y(x, \varepsilon)$ of (3.20) for every ε with $0 < \varepsilon \le \varepsilon_0$. Suppose $[a, b] \subset [0, 1]$ is an interval on which

$$|y(x,\varepsilon)| + |y'(x,\varepsilon)| \le M \tag{3.23}$$

and

$$|f'_{y}(x, y(x, \varepsilon), y'(x, \varepsilon), \varepsilon)| \le k > 0$$
(3.24)

for two positive constants M and k. Then there is a function $Y(x) \in C^1(a, b)$ which satisfies

$$f(x, Y(x), Y'(x), 0) = 0, (3.25)$$

and there is a sequence $\varepsilon_n \to 0+$ such that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon_n \to 0+} y(x, \varepsilon_n) = Y(x) \text{ uniformly on } [a, b],$$

$$\lim_{\varepsilon_n \to 0+} y'(x, \varepsilon_n) = Y'(x) \text{ uniformly on } [a + \delta, b - \delta].$$
(3.26)

Proof. See [35].

3.2 Summary

We have provided some necessary existence and uniqueness results in this chapter.



Chapter 4

Fitted Mesh Finite Difference Method for the Model Problem



In this chapter, we design and implement a fitted mesh finite difference method (FMFDM) for problem (2.1)-(2.2). The reasons for using FMFDM as compared to other approaches is obvious as the **EXAMPLE**

- Finite element users have to use layer adapted meshes (which is not at all trivial)
- Spline approximation users have to use variety of splines (e.g., *L*, *B*, cubic splines)
- Collocation users have to choose appropriate basis functions and the proper collocation points (at which the linear combination of the basis function is supposed to satisfy the differential equation) and selection of such collocation points is not trivial
- Multiple shooting users have to solve a large sequence of IVPs involving parameters $t = t_k$ which have to be obtained via methods like Secant, Newton-Raphson,

etc., and unless a proper initial approximation is taken, these methods tend to fail

- Continuation Method users
 - (i) are puzzled as how to proceed if you don't know the starting solution?
 - (ii) have to solve larger system of resulting difference equations (e.g., through RK-4 which will be $4N \times 4N$ system, etc).

Note that to solve the problem $\mathbf{F}(\mathbf{x}) = \mathbf{0}$, the *continuation method* is to consider a $\lambda \in [0, 1]$ and then form

$$\mathbf{g}(\lambda, \mathbf{x}) = \lambda \mathbf{F}(\mathbf{x}) + (1 - \lambda) \left[\mathbf{F}(\mathbf{x}) - \mathbf{F}(\mathbf{x}(0))\right].$$

Now start with a known solution $\mathbf{x}(0)$ of $\mathbf{g}(0, \mathbf{x})$ and proceed (continue) to determine the solution $\mathbf{x}(1)$ of $\mathbf{g}(1, \mathbf{x})$.

UNIVERSITY of the

It should be noted that we have recently obtained some preliminary results via one or more of the above approaches. However, since they are beyond the scope of this thesis, we are not including them here.

Now before we proceed further, let us fix some notations. We denote by \mathbf{w} the numerical solution obtained via FMFDM. In some cases, the underlying interval is denoted by [a, b] where a and b are arbitrary real constants and N and m are positive integers wheres h_i denotes the mesh size in the subinterval (x_{i-1}, x_i) .

The FMFDM is designed on the following mesh (referred to as Shishkin mesh in the literature):

We note that the asymptotic analysis presented in Chapter 2 implies that the layer is located near the left and/or the right end of the interval depending on the relation between α and β in (2.2). We consider here the case when it appears on the left end. The other case can be dealt similarly.

Let the interval [0, 1] be divided into two sub-intervals:

$$[0,1] := [0,\tau] \cup [\tau,1].$$

The piecewise uniform mesh (of Shishkin type) in these sub-intervals is designed as follows:

Assuming that $N = 2^m$ with $m \ge 3$, the intervals $(0, \tau)$ and $(\tau, 1)$ are each divided into N/2 equal mesh elements.

We define the parameter τ by

$$\tau = \min\{1/2, C \ln N\}.$$
(4.1)

Let $x_{j_0} = \tau$ and

 $[0,1] := 0 = x_0 < x_1 < \ldots < x_{j_0} < \ldots < x_N = 1,$

with $x_j = h_j - h_{j-1}$, where the mesh spacing is given by

$$h_j = \begin{cases} 2\tau N^{-1}, & j = 1, \dots, j_0, \\ 2(1-\tau)N^{-1}, & j = j_0 + 1, \dots N. \end{cases}$$
(4.2)

If $\tau = 1/2$, i.e., $1/2 < 8C \ln N$ then N^{-1} is very small relative to C which is very unlikely in practice and in such a case the method can be analyzed using the standard techniques. We therefore assume that

$$\tau = 8C \ln N. \tag{4.3}$$

Remark 4.1. Some studies have been carried out around the selection of C in the above but no clear guidelines have been obtained so far. Mostly they are all based

on trial and error. To avoid such ambiguities, one possible way is to use other type of meshes, for example **Bakhvalov-mesh** [9] or the most recent one **Patidar-mesh** [90], both of which are graded meshes and avoid unnecessary additional grid points as obtained in the Shishkin mesh. However, experimentation with these meshes is currently under progress.

4.1 Fitted Mesh Finite Difference Method

Re-writing (2.1) in the form

$$y''(x_i) = f(x_i, y(x_i), y'(x_i))$$

and then replacing the $y''(x_i)$ and $y'(x_i)$ terms with the central difference approximation, we obtain for each i = 1, 2, ..., N - 1,

$$(D^{+}D^{-})y(x_{i}) = f\left(x_{i}, y(x_{i}), (D^{o})y(x_{i}) - \frac{h_{i}^{2}}{6}y'''(\eta_{i})\right) + h_{i}^{2}\frac{y^{(iv)}}{12}(\xi_{i}), \qquad (4.4)$$

for some ξ_i and η_i in the interval (x_{i-1}, x_{i+1}) and

$$D^{+}(y_{i}) = \frac{y_{i+1} - y_{i}}{h_{i+1}},$$
$$D^{-}(y_{i}) = \frac{y_{i} - y_{i-1}}{h_{i}}$$

and

$$D^{o}(y_{i}) = \frac{y_{i+1} - y_{i-1}}{h_{i+1} + h_{i}}.$$

The FMFDM for (2.1)-(2.2) on the above mesh is obtained by deleting the error terms and employing the boundary conditions. Hence, it is give by

$$-(D^+D^-)w_i + f(x_i, w_i, (D^o)w_i) = 0, \ i = 1(1)N - 1$$
(4.5)

and

$$w_0 = \alpha, \quad w_N = \beta. \tag{4.6}$$

The $(N-1) \times (N-1)$ non-linear system obtained from this method can be solved by the Newton's method for non-linear systems. We briefly explain this procedure below.

We note that the system (4.5)-(4.6) is of the form

$$\mathbf{F}(\mathbf{w}) = \mathbf{0},\tag{4.7}$$

where $\mathbf{w} = [w_1, w_2, \cdots, w_{N-1}]^T$.

The Jacobian of $\mathbf{F}(w_1, \ldots, w_{N-1})$ is a tridiagonal matrix \mathbf{J} whose sub-diagonal, diagonal and super-diagonal entries are given by

$$\mathbf{J}_{i,j} = -\frac{h_{i+1}}{h_i} - \frac{h_{i+1}h_i}{h_{i+1} + h_i} f_{y'} \left(x_i, w_i, \frac{w_{i+1} - w_{i-1}}{h_{i+1} + h_i} \right); \ i = j - 1 \text{ and } j = 2, \dots, N - 1,$$
$$\mathbf{J}_{i,j} = 1 + \frac{h_{i+1}}{h_i} + h_{i+1}h_i f_y \left(x_i, w_i, \frac{w_{i+1} - w_{i-1}}{h_{i+1} + h_i} \right); \ i = j \text{ and } j = 1, \dots, N - 1,$$

and

$$\mathbf{J}_{i,j} = -1 + \frac{h_{i+1}h_i}{h_{i+1} + h_i} f_{y'}\left(x_i, w_i, \frac{w_{i+1} - w_{i-1}}{h_{i+1} + h_i}\right); \ i = j+1 \text{ and } j = 1, \dots, N-2.$$

Starting with a suitable initial estimate $\mathbf{w}^{[0]}$, we define

$$\mathbf{w}^{[k+1]} = \mathbf{w}^{[k]} + \Delta \mathbf{w}^{[k]}, \ k = 0, 1, 2, \dots$$
(4.8)

where $\Delta \mathbf{w}^{[k]}$ is the solution of

$$\mathbf{J}\left(\mathbf{w}^{[k]}\right)\Delta\mathbf{w}^{[k]} = -\mathbf{F}\left(\mathbf{w}^{[k]}\right), \ k = 0, 1, 2, \dots$$
(4.9)

Above method is implemented on MATLAB and results thus obtained are discussed below.

4.2 Analysis of the Fitted Mesh Finite Difference Methods

It is obvious from the construction above that the local truncation error satisfies

$$|y_j - w_j| \le \frac{h_j^2}{12} |w_j^{(iv)}|.$$

Since the solution of the problem (2.1)-(2.2) satisfies

$$|y^q(x)| \le M(1 + \varepsilon^{-q} e^{-\gamma x/\varepsilon})$$

where $q \ge 0$ and γ and M are positive constants independent of ε and the mesh size, we realize that the method is of almost second order because

$$|w_j^{(iv)}| \le M(1 + \varepsilon^{-4} e^{-\gamma x_j/\varepsilon}).$$

However, more sophisticated analysis follows the standard line as described in various works, see, e.g., [72, 109, 110] and one could obtain the final estimate or the order of $h^2 \ln^2(N)$.

4.3 Numerical Results

In this section, we provide some results obtained by the FMFDM described above for the following test problem

Lemma 4.1. Consider the problem

$$\varepsilon y''(x) + y(x)y'(x) - y(x) = f(x),$$

 $y(0) = 1, \ y(1) = \exp(-1/\varepsilon).$

The function f(x) in the above is chosen in such a way that the problem has the exact solution $y(x) = \exp(-x/\varepsilon)$.

Table 4.1 contains the maximum errors for various values of N and ε obtained by using the formula

Maximum Error = $\max |\mathbf{y} - \mathbf{w}|$.

ε	N = 8	N = 16	N = 32	N = 64	N = 128	N = 256
10^{-1}	2.45E-02	3.93E-03	1.48E-03	3.73E-04	9.35E-05	2.34E-05
10^{-2}	5.72E-02	1.33E-02	3.05E-03	7.27E-04	2.58E-04	8.80E-05
10^{-3}	6.19E-02	1.54E-02	3.78E-03	9.22E-04	2.58E-04	8.80E-05
10^{-4}	6.24E-02	1.56E-02	3.89E-03	9.70E-04	2.58E-04	8.80E-05
10^{-6}	6.25E-02	1.56E-02	3.91E-03	9.76E-04	2.58E-04	8.80E-05
10^{-8}	6.25E-02	1.56E-02	3.91E-03	9.77E-04	2.58E-04	8.80E-05
10^{-10}	6.25E-02	1.56E-02	3.91E-03	9.77E-04	2.58E-04	8.80E-05
10^{-12}	6.25E-02	1.56E-02	3.91E-03	9.77E-04	2.58E-04	8.80E-05
10^{-14}	6.25E-02	1.56E-02	3.91E-03	9.77E-04	2.58E-04	8.80E-05
10^{-16}	6.25E-02	1.56E-02	3.91E-03	9.77E-04	2.58E-04	8.80E-05

Table 4.1: Maximum errors obtained via FMFDM for Example 4.1

4.4 Summary

This chapter dealt with design of a FMFDM for the model problem (2.1)-(2.2). The method is implemented using MATLAB and the results are presented in Table 4.1.

One can see from the results presented in Table 4.1 that the FMFDM is ε -robust in the sense that the maximum error does not increase (in fact it remain constant) when ε decreases. This is the most important aspect one is always looking for from a practical point of view. Moreover, the above numerical results are in confirmation with the expected theoretical order of convergence.



WESTERN CAPE

Chapter 5

Fitted Operator Finite Difference Methods for a Problem Arising in Enzyme Kinetics

UNIVERSITY of the

Unlike the method in the previous chapter, in this chapter, we develop a fitted operator finite difference method (FOFDM) to solve a problem arising in enzyme kinetics.

The practical motivation to solve this problem comes from the fact that when a substance reacts with another substance to form a new substance (referred as a product) one is eager to know the components of each substance involved in the whole process. The cunning way of separating, identifying and determining the relative amounts of the components in each substance used and even in the product formed is part of the procedures used in analytical chemistry. However, such processes can be performed under static conditions referred in the thermodynamic methods in the literature. On the other hand, the dynamic conditions incorporated inside the kinetics methods. In this Chapter we would like to extend our helping hand to any scientist who might be interested in obtaining the aforementioned relative amounts of each substance involved in an enzyme-catalyzed reactions (see [100] for further details on this topic).

Since enzymes are high-molecular-weight molecules that catalyze reactions in biological systems, such reactions become integral part of kinetics methods. One should expect to have a series of chemical equations describing the individual elementary steps by which products are formed from reactants. The rate at which reactants are consumed or products are formed, led to an empirical *rate law* that relates the reaction rate to the concentrations of reactants, products, and intermediates at any instant. Using this law, one is able to translate each reaction which gives a mathematical model. We study the qualitative features of this model via asymptotic analysis and then use these features to develop some a reliable numerical method.

5.1 Problem Description

Consider a substrate S being converted irreversible by a single enzyme E into a product P. The intermediate substrate-enzyme complex is SE.

Law of mass action: The rate of a chemical reaction is directly proportional to the molecular concentrations of the reacting substances and therefore the reaction is

$$S + E \stackrel{k_1}{\rightharpoonup} SE \stackrel{k_2}{\rightarrow} P + E,$$

$$S + E \stackrel{k_{-1}}{\leftarrow} SE$$
(5.1)

where k_1 , k_2 and k_{-1} are proportionality constants.

Introducing s, e, c and p to denote the respective concentrations of S, E, SE and P, we obtain the non-linear autonomous system given

$$\begin{cases}
\frac{ds}{dt} = -k_1 s e + k_{-1} c \\
\frac{de}{dt} = -k_1 s e + (k_{-1} + k_2) c, \\
\frac{dc}{dt} = k_1 s e - (k_1 + k_2) c \\
\frac{dp}{dt} = k_2 c,
\end{cases}$$
(5.2)

with the associated initial conditions $s(0) = s_0 > 0, e(0) = e_0 > 0, c(0) = 0$ and p(0) = 0.

In the enzyme-catalyzed reaction (5.1) we expect an enzyme E to be regenerated and a product P to be formed, when the reaction ends. Thus we have to reduce the system (5.2) to the system of the rate of the substrate S and rate of the substrateenzyme complex SE, in fact the two substances constitute the core of such reactions. To achieve this we add the second and third equation and obtain

$$\frac{d(e+c)}{dt} = 0$$
$$\Rightarrow e(t) = e_0 - c(t), \tag{5.3}$$

and by adding the first, third and fourth equation we obtain

$$\frac{d(s+c+p)}{dt} = 0$$

$$\Rightarrow p(t) = s_0 - s(t) - c(t).$$
(5.4)

Using equations (5.3) and (5.4) in (5.2) we eliminate the two concentrations e and p from the system (5.2), and eventually obtain

$$\begin{cases} \frac{ds}{dt} = -k_1 e_0 s + (k_1 s + k_{-1})c, \quad s(0) = s_0, \\ \frac{dc}{dt} = k_1 e_0 s - (k_1 s + k_{-1} + k_2)c, \quad c(0) = 0. \end{cases}$$
(5.5)

It should be noted that this type of elimination often occurs in chemical kinetics, circuit analysis and other fields, due to constraints between variables from physical conservation or mass laws. A biochemist expect that

$$\frac{de}{dt} \approx 0 \Rightarrow \frac{dc}{dt} \approx 0$$

$$\Rightarrow c \approx \frac{k_1 e_0 s}{k_1 s + k_{-1} + k_2} \to \frac{ds}{dt} = \frac{-k_2 e_0 s}{K + s} \text{ where } K \equiv (k_{-1} + k_2)/k_1.$$

The last differential equation can be solved for s.

5.2 Dimensional Analysis

Introducing the dimensionless variables

$$\begin{aligned} \tau &= k_1 e_0 t, \ \lambda = \frac{k_2}{k_1 s_0}, \ \kappa = \frac{k_{-1} + k_2}{k_1 s_0}, \\ x(\tau) &= s(t)/s_0, \ y(\tau) = c(t)/e_0, \ \varepsilon = e_0/s_0, \end{aligned}$$

into (5.5) and simplifying, we obtain

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx}{d\tau} = -x + (x + \kappa - \lambda)y, \quad x(0) = 1, \\ \varepsilon \frac{dy}{d\tau} = x - (x + \kappa)y, \quad y(0) = 0. \end{cases}$$
(5.6)

The value of ε which is e_0/s_0 is typically of the order of $\varepsilon \approx 10^{-6}$. Hence the system is singularly perturbed and information about the location of the layer must be determined.

5.3 Prediction of the Boundary Layer

In this section, we discuss how the boundary layer is located using the asymptotic analysis.

Plugging

$$\begin{pmatrix} X(\tau,\varepsilon) \\ Y(\tau,\varepsilon) \end{pmatrix} \sim \sum_{j=0}^{m} \begin{pmatrix} X_j(\tau) \\ Y_j(\tau) \end{pmatrix} \varepsilon^j, \quad m \in \mathbb{Z}^+ \text{ (it is 1 in our case)}$$
(5.7)

into (5.6) and simplifying, we obtain

Coefficients of ε^0 :

$$\begin{cases} \dot{X}_{0} = -\frac{\lambda X_{0}}{X_{0}+\kappa} \text{ with } X_{0}(0) = 1 \\ Y_{0} = \frac{X_{0}}{X_{0}+\kappa} \end{cases}$$
(5.8)
Coefficients of ε^{1} :
$$\begin{cases} \dot{X}_{1} = -\frac{\lambda \kappa}{(X_{0}+\kappa)^{2}} X_{1} - \frac{X_{0}+\kappa-\lambda}{X_{0}+\kappa} \dot{Y}_{0} \text{ with } X_{1}(0) = 0 \\ Y_{1} = \frac{1}{X_{0}+\kappa} \left((1-Y_{0})X_{1} - \dot{Y}_{0}d\tau \right). \end{cases}$$
(5.9)

Note that the problem (5.5) possesses only one initial condition attached to each depended variable and therefore, it is sufficient to use the first order term of (5.7) to predict the location of a boundary layer. Therefore, using terms of $O(\varepsilon^0)$ we notice that

$$Y_0(0) = \frac{1}{1+\kappa} \neq y(0).$$

Hence we have a layer near $\tau = 0$.

Unlike the FMFDM, the construction of FOFDM does not require knowledge of the width of the layer. However, using the matching principle, it is not hard to find out that the width of the layer is $O(\tau^*)$. **Remark 5.1.** The reduced system corresponding to (5.6), i.e.,

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx_0}{d\tau} = -x_0 + (x_0 + \kappa - \lambda)y_0, & x_0(0) = 1, \\ 0 = x_0 - (x_0 + \kappa)y_0 \end{cases}$$
(5.10)

has the outer solution

$$y_0(\tau) = \frac{x_0(\tau)}{x_0(\tau) + \kappa}.$$
(5.11)

Using the outer solution (5.11) into the system (5.10) we obtain the initial-value problem

$$\dot{x_0} = -\frac{\lambda x_0}{x_0 + \kappa}$$
 with $x_0(0) = 1$,

which is decreasing monotonically to the critical point $x_0 = 0$, and represents the consumption of the substrate S, whereas the outer solution in (5.11) represents the formation of a product P and the regeneration of an enzyme E as the reaction ends.

5.3.1 Stability of Critical Points of the Continuous System

The only critical point of the continuous system (5.6) is (0,0). The eigenvalues of the associated Jacobian matrix at this point are given by

$$\eta_{1,2} := \frac{-\left(1 + \frac{\kappa}{\varepsilon}\right) \pm \sqrt{\left(1 + \frac{\kappa}{\varepsilon}\right)^2 - \frac{4\lambda}{\varepsilon}}}{2}.$$

Now since the determinant of the Jacobian matrix evaluated at the critical point is positive and the real part of both the above eigenvalues is negative, the critical point is stable and attractive, i.e., asymptotically stable ([57]).

5.4 Fitted Operator Finite Difference Method

To approximate the solution of the system (5.6), we consider the following numerical method, referred to as the Fitted Operator Finite Difference Method (FOFDM).

We have used a uniform step-size $\Delta \tau$ to proceed in the infinite interval. Thus $\tau_j = j * \Delta \tau, \ j = 0, 1, \dots$

Looking at the system (5.6), we find that its solution has a slowly varying component (referred as slow variable) x and a rapidly varying component (referred as fast variable) y. Therefore, the equation corresponding to x can be discretized in an standard way. However, we use a non-standard discretization for the equation containing derivative of y. This non-standard discretization is carried out via one of the Mickens' rules, further details of which can be found in [79, 89].

We consider the constant coefficient homogeneous problem corresponding to the differential equation in y. Corresponding exact scheme is

$$y_j = \exp\left(-\frac{\kappa\,\tau}{\varepsilon}\right)y_{j-1}.$$

Further simplification to this yields

$$\varepsilon \frac{y_j - y_{j-1}}{\phi} = -\kappa y_j$$

where

$$\phi := \frac{\varepsilon}{\kappa} \left(\exp\left(\frac{\kappa \Delta \tau}{\varepsilon}\right) - 1 \right) = \Delta \tau + O\left(\frac{\Delta \tau^2}{\varepsilon}\right).$$

Combining the two facts, we have the following FOFDM for the system problem (5.6):

$$\begin{cases} \frac{x_{j+1}-x_j}{\Delta\tau} = -x_j + (\kappa - \lambda)y_j + x_j y_j \\ \varepsilon \frac{y_j - y_{j-1}}{\phi} = x_j - \kappa y_j - x_j y_j. \end{cases}$$
(5.12)

Remark 5.2. We have experimented and realized that the other non-standard modelling rules, for instance, "the non-local approximation for the non-linear terms" is not necessary as the stability is obtained just by using the suitable denominator function (in the above case, it is ϕ).

5.5 Analysis of the Fitted Operator Finite Difference Method

In this section, we discuss the stability of the fixed point(s) and the convergence of the FOFDM given by (5.12).

5.5.1 Stability of Fixed Points of the Discrete System

The FOFDM (5.12) can be written as

$$\begin{cases} x_{j+1} = x_j + \Delta \tau \left(-x_j + (\kappa - \lambda)y_j + x_j y_j \right) \equiv F(x_j, y_j) \\ y_j = y_{j-1} + (\phi/\varepsilon) \left(x_j - \kappa y_j - x_j y_j \right) \equiv G(x_j, y_{j-1}) \\ \Rightarrow G(x_j, y_j) = y_j + (\phi/\varepsilon) \left(x_j - \kappa y_{j+1} - x_j y_{j+1} \right). \end{cases}$$
(5.13)

The fixed points (x^*, y^*) of the system (5.13) are obtained by setting $F(x^*, y^*)$ and $G(x^*, y^*)$ equal to zero. We check that the only fixed point that satisfies this is (0, 0). Hence the fixed point of (5.13) corresponds to the critical point of the continuous system (5.6). Now evaluating the eigenvalues of the associated Jacobian at this fixed point, we find that the fixed points are asymptotically stable without any step-size restriction. (Note that the same is not true if we use a standard finite difference methods, e.g., forward Euler for the equation in y. In that case, for the fixed point to be asymptotically stable, we would require that $\Delta \tau < 2\varepsilon/(\kappa + \varepsilon)$).

5.5.2 Convergence of the Fitted Operator Finite Difference Methods

The local truncation error (LTE) for the method in x satisfies

$$|LTE_x| \le \frac{\Delta \tau^2}{2} x''(\xi_j), \ \xi_j \in (\tau_{j-1}, \tau_j)$$
 (5.14)

and that for the method in y satisfies (in the more realistic case $\varepsilon < \Delta \tau$)

$$|LTE_y| \le \frac{\Delta \tau^2}{2} y''(\zeta_j), \ \zeta_j \in (\tau_{j-1}, \tau_j).$$
 (5.15)

Hence, we conclude that the FOFDM is first order accurate.

Remark 5.3. The results presented in Tables 5.1-5.2 are first order accurate which is not possible if we use the FMFDM instead of FOFDM. This is due to the fact that the Shishkin mesh will provide a locking factor $\ln(N)$ in the theoretical order of convergence of the method and therefore the resulting order of convergence would only be $\Delta \tau \ln(N)$ and not $\Delta \tau$ as in the case of FOFDM.

5.6 Numerical Results

In this section, we present some numerical results corresponding to problem (5.6). As noted earlier, the parameter $\varepsilon \approx 10^{-6}$, therefore, we consider a series of ε values and check whether the method is robust with respect to this parameter. (This is important due to the fact that should any non-dimensionalized parameter changes its value, ε will change accordingly (though not significantly)).

Since the exact solution of this problem is not available, we use the well-known double mesh principle [34] to obtain the maximum errors corresponding to each com-

ponents x and y, i.e.,

Maximum Error in
$$z = \max_{0 \le j \le N} |z_j^N - z_{2j}^{2N}|.$$

where z is the numerical solution vector for x and y.

Tabular results presented for various values of N and ε in Table 5.2 show that the FOFDM is ε -robust. However, since x is a slowly varying component, the results are unaffected by ε . This can be seen from Table 5.1. Finally, the problem being singularly perturbed, there is no need to use the standard methods to solve it and hence we do not add results obtained by them.

5.7 Summary



 Table 5.1: Maximum errors obtained via FOFDM (for x-component)

ε	N=8	N=16	N=32	N = 64	N=128
1	1.25E-02	5.98E-03	2.93E-03	1.45E-03	7.22E-04
2^{-4}	1.25E-02	5.98E-03	2.93E-03	1.45E-03	7.22E-04
2^{-12}	1.25E-02	5.98E-03	2.93E-03	1.45E-03	7.22E-04
2^{-16}	1.25E-02	5.98E-03	2.93E-03	1.45E-03	7.22E-04
2^{-20}	1.25E-02	5.98E-03	2.93E-03	1.45E-03	7.22E-04
2^{-24}	1.25E-02	5.98E-03	2.93E-03	1.45E-03	7.22E-04
2^{-32}	1.25E-02	5.98E-03	2.93E-03	1.45E-03	7.22E-04
2^{-36}	1.25E-02	5.98E-03	2.93E-03	1.45E-03	7.22E-04
2^{-40}	1.25E-02	5.98E-03	2.93E-03	1.45E-03	7.22E-04
2^{-48}	1.25E-02	5.98E-03	2.93E-03	1.45E-03	7.22E-04

Table 5.2: Maximum errors obtained via FOFDM (for y-component)

ε	N=8	WN=16	N=32 P	■ N=64	N=128
1	1.27E-02	6.34E-03	3.18E-03	1.59E-03	7.99E-04
2^{-4}	1.44E-02	1.98E-02	1.52E-02	9.45E-03	5.33E-03
2^{-12}	6.84E-03	3.24E-03	1.58E-03	7.78E-04	3.87E-04
2^{-16}	6.84E-03	3.24E-03	1.58E-03	7.78E-04	3.87E-04
2^{-20}	6.84E-03	3.24E-03	1.58E-03	7.78E-04	3.87E-04
2^{-24}	6.84E-03	3.24E-03	1.58E-03	7.78E-04	3.87E-04
2^{-32}	6.84E-03	3.24E-03	1.58E-03	7.78E-04	3.87E-04
2^{-36}	6.84E-03	3.24E-03	1.58E-03	7.78E-04	3.87E-04
2^{-40}	6.84E-03	3.24E-03	1.58E-03	7.78E-04	3.87E-04
2^{-48}	6.84E-03	3.24E-03	1.58E-03	7.78E-04	3.87E-04

Chapter 6

Conclusion and Future Plans

This thesis deals with the analysis and implementation of some reliable numerical methods for non-linear singular perturbation problems (NSPPs).

In the first chapter, we described what is meant by an NSPP. Then we presented some models describing NSPPs and gave a literature review from the past few years. The second chapter deals with the asymptotic analysis for a model problem where we found the necessary qualitative information which is used in designing the numerical method in chapter 4. Some theoretical results about existence and uniqueness of the quasilinear and non-linear SPPs are presented in Chapter 3. A fitted mesh finite difference method is designed, analyzed and implemented in Chapter 4. To gain further insight into the approach, we considered a realistic situation in Chapter 5 where we have solved a problem arising in enzyme kinetics.

Several conclusions are drawn which are mentioned at appropriate places in the individual chapters. Other relevant concerns which form some of our future plans are:

• It is very much surprising that despite the fact that one lacks the analytical

theory with regard to finding analytical solution, he/she does not lack the analytical machinery to investigate the qualitative features of the innocent looking mathematical problems. Existence and uniqueness of the solution, existence, location and width of the layers, etc., are just a few examples in support of this statement. To this end we have realized there is a room for improvement and therefore we are currently considering to extend our analysis (i) to find some other qualitative properties, and (ii) for some other research problems such as those for singularly perturbed problems in biology.

- We also intend to do rigorous error analysis of some of the numerical methods (for example, the one in Chapter 2) and simultaneously would like to test the FMFDMs on other meshes such as Bakhvalov-mesh [9] and the Patidarmesh [90].
- Another aspect which we are currently dealing with is to improve the order of accuracy. To this end, we have recently obtained some preliminary results using variable mesh shooting type of methods and via some extrapolation techniques. Since they are beyond the scope of this thesis, such works are being dealt elsewhere.

Appendix A

Some Useful Results [85]

Definition 1. Let $y(x, \varepsilon)$ denotes the solution of a differential equation involving a small positive parameter ε such that $0 \leq \varepsilon \leq \varepsilon_0$ and let the function $v(x, \varepsilon)$ be defined over the same domain (say \mathcal{D}) as the solution $y(x, \varepsilon)$. Then the statement

$$y(x,\varepsilon) = O(v(x,\varepsilon))$$
 in \mathcal{D} as $\varepsilon \to 0$ (1)

means that for each point $x \in \mathcal{D}$, there exists a positive k(x) and an interval $I := \{0 \le \varepsilon \le \varepsilon_0(x)\}$, where ε_0 depends in general on the choice x, such that



for every ε in *I*. If $(\frac{y}{v})$ is defined in \mathcal{D} , then (1) implies that $|\frac{y}{v}|$ is bounded above by k. The relation (1) is said to be uniformly valid in \mathcal{D} if k is a constant and ε_0 does not depend on x.

Definition 2. The statement

$$y(x,\varepsilon) = o(v(x,\varepsilon))$$
 in \mathcal{D} as $\varepsilon \to 0$

means that for each point $x \in \mathcal{D}$ and a given δ , there exists an interval $I := \{0 \le \varepsilon \le \varepsilon_0(x, \delta)\}$, which depends in general on the choice of x and δ , such that

$$|y| \le \delta |v|$$

for all ε in I.

Definition 3. Let $\phi_n(\varepsilon)$ with $n = 1, 2, \cdots$ be a sequence of functions of ε such that

$$\phi_{n+1}(\varepsilon) = o(\phi_n(\varepsilon))$$
 as $\varepsilon \to 0$ for each $n = 1, 2, \cdots$.

Such a sequence is called an asymptotic sequence. Thus ε^{n-1} with $n = 1, 2, \cdots$ is an asymptotic sequence.

Definition 4. The series

$$\sum_{j=1}^{N} \phi_j(\varepsilon) y_j(x),$$

where the integer N may be finite or infinite, is said to be the asymptotic expansion of y with respect to $\phi_j(\varepsilon)$ as $\varepsilon \to 0$, if for every $M = 1, 2, \dots, N$

$$y(x,\varepsilon) - \sum_{j=1}^{M} \phi_j(\varepsilon) y_j(x) = o(\phi_M)$$
 as $\varepsilon \to 0$

which is equivalent to

$$y(x,\varepsilon) - \sum_{j=1}^{M} \phi_j(\varepsilon) y_j(x) = O(\phi_{M+1})$$
 as $\varepsilon \to 0$

for each $M = 1, 2, \dots, N-1$. The asymptotic expansion is said to hold uniformly in \mathcal{D} if both the order relations hold uniformly there.

Bibliography

- J. Alvarez-Ramirez and H. Puebla, On classical PI control of chemical reactors, *Chemical Engineering Science* 56(6) (2001) 2111-2121.
- M.U. Akhmet, Perturbations and Hopf bifurcation of the planar discontinuous dynamical system, Nonlinear Analysis, Theory, Methods and Applications 60(1) (2005) 163-178.
- [3] R. Aris, The Mathematical Theory of Diffusion and Reaction in Permeable Catalysts, Vol. I, Clarendon Press, Oxford, 1975.
- [4] M. Mu, L. Sun and H.A. Dijkstra, The sensitivity and stability of the ocean's thermohaline circulation to finite-amplitude perturbations, *Journal of Physical Oceanography* 34(10) (2004) 2305-2315.
- [5] O. Alvarez and M. Bardi, Viscosity solutions methods for singular perturbations in deterministic and stochastic control, SIAM Journal on Control and Optimization 40(4) (2002) 1159-1188.
- [6] W. Assawinchaichote and S.K. Nguang, Fuzzy observer-based controller design for singularly perturbed nonlinear systems: An LMI approach, *Proceedings of* the IEEE Conference on Decision and Control 2 (2002) 2165-2170.

- [7] M. Badiale and T. D'Aprile, Concentration around a sphere for a singularly perturbed Schrodinger equation, Nonlinear Analysis, Theory, Methods and Applications 49(7) (2002) 947-985.
- [8] F. Bagagiolo and M. Bardi, Singular perturbation of a finite horizon problem with state-space constraints, SIAM Journal on Control and Optimization 36(6) (1998) 2040-2060.
- [9] N.S. Bakhvalov, Towards optimization of methods for solving boundary value problems in the presence of a boundary layer, *Zh. Vychisl. Mat. Mat. Fiz.* 9 (1969), 841-859 (in Russian).
- [10] T. Bartsch and T. Weth, Three nodal solutions of singularly perturbed elliptic equations on domains without topology, Annales de l'Institut Henri Poincare. Annales: Analyse Non Lineaire/ Nonlinear Analysis 22(3) (2005) 259-281.
- [11] A.A. Belolipetskij, Mathematical model for cooling thin wall shell under the assumption of the quick mixing gas inside them, Vestnik Moskovskogo Universiteta. Ser. 15 Vychislitel'naya Matematika i Kibernetika (1) (2001) 14-17.
- [12] B. Bensassi, M. Bidani and N.E.Radhy, Multirate digital control for singularly perturbed nonlinear continuous-time systems, *Systems Analysis Modelling Simulation* **36(4)** (2000) 441-470.
- [13] A.O. Bochkarev, An elementary solution of plane problems for one low compressible material, Vestnik Sankt-Peterburgskogo Universiteta. Ser 1. Matematika Mekhanika Astronomiya (2) (2002) 67-70.
- [14] I. Boglaev, Monotone iterative algorithms for a nonlinear singularly perturbed parabolic problem, Journal of Computational and Applied Mathematics 172(2) (2004) 313-335.
- [15] I. Boglaev, A block monotone domain decomposition algorithm for a semilinear convection-diffusion problem, Journal of Computational and Applied Mathematics 173(2) (2005) 259-277.
- [16] R. Bouyekhf, A. El Hami and A. El Moudni, Optimal control of a particular class of singularly perturbed nonlinear discrete-time systems, *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control* 46(7) (2001) 1097-1101.
- [17] I. Boglaev, A monotone Schwarz algorithm for a semilinear convection-diffusion problem, Journal of Numerical Mathematics 12(3) (2004) 169-191.
- [18] R. Bouyekhf and A. El Moudni, Analysis of discrete singularly perturbed nonlinear systems: application to the study of stability properties, *Journal of the Franklin Institute* **334B(2)** (1997) 199-212.
- [19] S. Braun and A. Kluwick, Unsteady three-dimensional marginal separation caused by surface-mounted obstacles and/or local suction, *Journal of Fluid Mechanics* 514 (2004) 121-152.
- [20] C.J. Budd, G.P. Koomullil and A.M. Stuart, On the solution of convectiondiffusion boundary value problems using equidistributed grids, SIAM Journal of Scientific Computing 20(2) (1998) 591-618.

- [21] R. Bouyekhf, A. El Moudni and N. Zerhouni, On the asymptotic solution of initial value problems for singularly perturbed discrete-time non-linear systems, *Systems Analysis Modelling Simulation* 29(2) (1997) 85-104.
- [22] R. Bouyekhf and A. El Moudni, Stabilization and regulation of class of nonlinear singularly perturbed discrete-time systems, *Journal of the Franklin Institute* 335B(5) (1998) 963-982.
- [23] S. Bulanov, F. Pegoraro and J. Sakai, Variety of nonlinear wave-breaking, Nuclear Instruments & Methods in Physics Research, Section A: Accelerators, Spectrometers, Detectors and Associated Equipment 410(3) (1998) 477-487.
- [24] V. Bykov, I. Goldfarb, and V. Gol'dshtein, On the integral manifold approach to a flame propagation problem: Pressure- driven flames in porous media, IMA Journal of Applied Mathematics (Institute of Mathematics and Its Applications)
 69(4) (2004) 335-352.
- [25] M. Cakir and G.M. Amiraliyev, Numerical solution of the singularly perturbed problem with nonlocal boundary condition, *Applied Mathematics and Mechan*ics (English Edition) 23(7) (2002) 755-764.
- [26] K.W. Chang and F.A. Howes, Nonlinear Singular Perturbation Phenomena: Theory and Applications, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1984.
- [27] S. Chen, Singular perturbation for a nonlinear boundary value problem of first order system, Applied Mathematics and Mechanics (English Edition) 17(11) (1996) 1095-1100.

- [28] L. Crocco, A suggestion for the numerical solution of the steady Navier-Stokes equations, AIAA J. 3 (1965) 1824-1832.
- [29] B. d'Andrea-Novel, M.A. Garnero and A. Abichou, Nonlinear control of a hydraulic robot using singular perturbations, *Proceedings of the IEEE International Conference on Systems, Man and Cybernetics* 2 (1994) 1932-1937.
- [30] H. Date, M. Sampei, M. Ishikawa and K.M. Masato, Simultaneous control of position and orientation for ball-plate manipulation problem based on time-state control form, *IEEE Transactions on Robotics and Automation* 20(3) (2004) 465-479.
- [31] S. Djennoune, A. El-Moudni and N, Zerhouni, Stabilization and regulation of a class of nonlinear singularly perturbed systems with discretized composite feedback, *International Journal of Systems Science* 29(4) (1998) 419-434.
- [32] S. Djennoune and M. Bettayeb, Balancing for a class of non-linear singularly perturbed systems, *International Journal of Control* 76(2) (2003) 129-138.
- [33] A. Doelmant, D. Iron and Y. Nishiura, Destabilisation of fronts in a class of bistable systems, SIAM Journal on Mathematical Analysis 5(6) (2004) 1420-1450.
- [34] E.P. Doolan, J.J.H. Miller and W.H.A. Schilders, Uniform Numerical Methods for Problems with Initial and Boundary Layers, Boole Press, Dublin, 1980.
- [35] F.W. Dorr, S.V. Parter and L.F. Shampine, Application of the maximum principle to singular perturbation problems, SIAM Rev. 15(1) (1973) 43-88.

- [36] W. Eckhaus, Asymptotic Analysis of Singular Perturbations, North-Holland, Amsterdam, 1979.
- [37] M.I. El-Hawwary, A.L. Elshafei, H.M. Emara and H.A. Abdel Fattah, Output feedback control of a class of nonlinear systems using direct adaptive fuzzy controller, *IEE Proceedings: Control Theory and Applications* 151(5) (2004).
- [38] A. ElShabrawy and H.M. Schwartz, Fuzzy sliding mode control for a singularly perturbed systems, Annual Conference of the North American Fuzzy Information Processing Society - NAFIPS NAFIPS 2004 - Annual Meeting of the North American Fuzzy Information Processing Society: Fuzzy Sets in the Heart of the Canadian Rockies 1 (2004).
- [39] A.Y. Evkin and A.L. Kalamkarov, Analysis of large deflection equilibrium states of composite shells of revolution. Part 1. General model and singular perturbation analysis, *International Journal of Solids and Structures* 38(50-51) (2001) 8961-8974.
- [40] J. Ezzine and M. Ben-Daya, Singularly perturbed nonlinear ODEs and interior point optimization algorithms, *Proceedings of the American Control Conference* 3 (1995) 1816-1820.
- [41] A.D. Fitt, A.D. Kelly and C.P. Please, Crack propagation models for rock fracture in a geothermal energy reservoir, SIAM Journal on Applied Mathematics 55(6) (1995) 1592-1608.
- [42] L. Fu, X. Chen, Asymptotic analysis of a class of nonlinear singularly perturbed systems, Xibei Gongye Daxue Xuebao/Journal of Northwestern Polytechnical University 15(3) (1997) 441-446.

- [43] V. Gaitsgory and M. Nguyen, Multiscale singularly perturbed control systems: Limit occupational measures sets and averaging, *Proceedings of the IEEE Conference on Decision and Control* 1 2003.
- [44] V.A. Galaktionov, S. Gerbi and J.L. Vazquez, Quenching for a one-dimensional fully nonlinear parabolic equation in detonation theory, SIAM Journal on Applied Mathematics 61(4) (2001) 1253-1285.
- [45] M. Garbey, On some applications of the superposition principle with Fourier basis, SIAM Journal of Scientific Computing 22(3) (2001) 1087-1116.
- [46] O. Gil and F. Quiros, Boundary layer formation in the transition from the porous media equation to a hele-shaw flow, Annales de l'Institut Henri Poincare. Annales: Analyse Non Lineaire/ Nonlinear Analysis 20(1) (2003) 13-36.
- [47] V.Y. Glizer, On stabilization of nonstandard singularly perturbed systems with small delays in state and control, *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control* 49(6) (2004) 1012-1016.
- [48] G. Grammel and P. Shi, On the asymptotics of the Lyapunov spectrum under singular perturbations, *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control* 45(3) (2000) 565-569.
- [49] K. Guemghar, B. Srinivasan, Ph. Mullhaupt and D. Bonvin, Predictive control of fast unstable and nonminimum-phase nonlinear systems, *Proceedings of the American Control Conference* 6 (2002) 4764-4769.
- [50] S. Haber and N. Levinson, A boundary value problem for a singularly perturbed differential equation, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 6 (1955) 866-872.

- [51] G.S. Happawana, A.K. Bajaj and M. Azene, Analytical solution to non-similar normal modes in a strongly non-linear discrete system, *Journal of Sound and Vibration* 183(2) (1995) 361-367.
- [52] A. Hauck, L. von Smekal and R. Alkofer, Solving the gluon Dyson-Schwinger equation in the Mandelstam approximation, *Computer Physics Communications* 112(2-3) (1998) 149-165.
- [53] Y. He and H. Krim, Multiscale signal enhancement: Beyond the normality and independence assumption, *IEEE Transactions on Image Processing* 11(4) (2002) 423-433.
- [54] C. Hervas, R. Toledo, M. Silva, Use of pruned computational neural networks for processing the response of oscillating chemical reactions with a view to analyzing nonlinear multicomponent mixtures, *Journal of Chemical Information and Computer Sciences* 41(4) (2001) 1083-1092.
- [55] R.M. Hirschorn and E. Aranda-Bricaire, Global approximate output tracking for nonlinear systems, *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control* 43(10) (1998) 1389-1398.
- [56] W. Huang, Boundary value problem for a singularly perturbed nonlinear system, Applied Mathematics and Mechanics (English Edition) 18(6) (1997) 575-584.
- [57] D.W. Jordan and P. Smith, Nonlinear Ordinary Differential Equations, Clarendon Press, Oxford, 1987.

- [58] J.C. Jorge and B. Bujanda, Numerical methods for evolutionary reactiondiffusion problems with nonlinear reaction terms, *Journal of Computational* and Applied Mathematics 166(1) (2004) 167-180.
- [59] M.K. Kadalbajoo and K.C. Patidar, Numerical solution of singularly perturbed non-linear two point boundary value problems by spline in compression, *International Journal of Computer Mathematics* **79(2)** (2002) 271-288.
- [60] M.K. Kadalbajoo and K.C. Patidar, Tension spline for the numerical solution of singularly perturbed non-linear boundary value problems, *Computational and Applied Mathematics* 21(3) (2002) 717-742.
- [61] S. Kang, Singular perturbation for the buckling of a truncated shallow spherical shell with large geometrical parameter, Applied Mathematics and Mechanics (English Edition) 16(5) (1995) 461-474.

- [62] S. Kang, Singular perturbation for nonlinear bending of a truncated shallow spherical shell with variable thickness under linear distributed loads along the interior edge, *Proceedings of the International Conference on Nonlinear Mechanics, ICNM* (1998) 261-264.
- [63] Y. Kanzawa and S. Oishi, Imperfect singular solutions of nonlinear equations and a numerical method of proving their existence, *IEICE Transactions on Fundamentals of Electronics, Communications and Computer Sciences* E82-A(6) (1999) 1062-1069.
- [64] A. Karwowski, Elastic arches with large elevation. Singularly perturbed problem of nonlinear elasticity. *Journal of Elasticity* 45(3) (1996) 153-214.

- [65] N. Kazantzis, N. Huynh and R.A. Wright, Nonlinear observer design for the slow states of a singularly perturbed system, *Computers and Chemical Engineering Control of Multiscale and Distributed Process Systems* 29(4) (2005) 797-806.
- [66] W. Kelley, Perturbation problems with quadratic dependence on the first derivative, Nonlinear Analysis, Theory, Methods and Applications 51(3) (2002) 469-486.
- [67] J. Kevorkian, Partial Differential Equation and analytical techniques, Wadsworth & Brooks/Cole Mathematics Series, 1990.
- [68] M. Kohlmann and S. Tang, Minimization of risk and linear quadratic optimal control theory, SIAM Journal on Control and Optimization 42(3) (2004) 1118-1142.
- [69] N. Kopteva and M. Stynes, Numerical analysis of a singularly perturbed nonlinear reaction-diffusion problem with multiple solutions, *Applied Numerical Mathematics* 51(2-3) (2004) 273-288.
- [70] L. Kong, S. Wang and J. Wang, Positive solution of a singular nonlinear thirdorder periodic boundary value problem, *Journal of Computational and Applied Mathematics* 132(2) (2001) 247-253.
- [71] T.S. Lee and B.S. Chen, Robust performance control of uncertain nonlinear systems: a self-tuning approach, *International Journal of Robust and Nonlinear Control* 4(5) (1994) 697-712.

- [72] T. Linss, H.-G. Roos and R. Vulanović, Uniform pointwise convergence on Shishkin type meshes for quasiliner convection diffusion problems, SIAM J. Numer. Anal. 38 (2000) 897-912.
- [73] K.M. Liu and C.K. Pan, Automatic solution to systems of ordinary differential equations by the Tau Method, *Computers and Mathematics with Applications* 38(9) (1999) 197-210.
- [74] P. Liu, Stabilization of singularly perturbed multiple-time-delay systems with a saturating actuator, *International Journal of Systems Science* 32(8) (2002) 1041-1045.
- [75] H. Liu, F. Sun and Z. Sun, Stability analysis and synthesis of fuzzy singularly perturbed systems, *IEEE Transactions on Fuzzy Systems* 13(2) (2005) 273-284.
- [76] G. Lu, D.W.C. Ho and L.F. Yeung, Generalized Quadratic Stability for Perturbated Singular Systems, *Proceedings of the IEEE Conference on Decision and Control* 3 (2003).
- [77] G.A. Mercado, B.P Luce and J. Xin, Modelling thermal front dynamics in microwave heating, IMA Journal of Applied Mathematics (Institute of Mathematics and Its Applications) 67(5) (2002) 419-439.
- [78] J. Medanic, Design of Nonlinear Controls Using Structured Representations, Proceedings of the IEEE Conference on Decision and Control 4 (2003).
- [79] R.E. Mickens (editor), Applications of Nonstandard Finite Difference Schemes, World Scientific, Singapore, 2000.

- [80] A. Milani, Erratum: long time existence and singular perturbation results for quasilinear hyperbolic equations with small parameter and dissipation term -III, Nonlinear Analysis, Theory, Methods & Applications 27(3) (1996) 367-368.
- [81] R. Molle, Semilinear elliptic problems in unbounded domains with unbounded boundary, Asymptotic Analysis 38(3-4) (2004) 293-307.
- [82] A. H. Nayfeh, Introduction to Perturbation Techniques, John Wiley & Sons, New York, 1981.
- [83] T. Ogawa and H. Suzuki, On the spectra of pulses in a nearly integrable system, SIAM Journal on Applied Mathematics 57(2) (1997) 485-500.
- [84] R.E. O'Malley Jr., On nonlinear singular perturbation problems with interior nonuniformities, J. Math. Mech. 19 (1103-1112).
- [85] R.E. O'Malley Jr., Thinking About Ordinary Differential Equations, Cambridge University Press, New York, 1997.
- [86] S. Pan, F. Hsiao and C. Teng, Dynamic output feedback control of nonlinear singularly perturbed systems, *Journal of the Franklin Institute* 333B(6) (1996) 947-973.
- [87] N. Park, H. Park, H. Yang and Y. Park, Robust vibration/force control of a 2 D.O.F. arm having one flexible link with artificial pneumatic actuators, *JVC/Journal of Vibration and Control* 8(3) (2002) 405-423.
- [88] N. Park, H. Yang, H. Park and Y. Park, Position/vibration control of twodegree-of-freedom arms having one flexible link with artificial pneumatic muscle actuators, *Robotics and Autonomous Systems* 40(4) (2002) 239-253.

- [89] K.C. Patidar, On the use of nonstandard finite difference methods, Journal of Difference Equations and Applications 11 (2005) 735-758.
- [90] K.C. Patidar, Adaptive finite element method for convection-diffusion-reaction problems, Report Nr. UWC-MRR 2007/01, University of the Western Cape, July 2007.
- [91] F. Pegoraro, S.V. Bulanov, J.I. Sakai and G. Tomassini, Three-dimensional singularities of a thin plasma slab, *Physical Review E. Statistical Physics, Plasmas, Fluids, and Related Interdisciplinary Topics* 64(1) (2001) 016415/1-016415/11.
- [92] E.E. Petersen, Chemical Reaction Analysis, Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey, 1965.
- [93] Z.H. Qiu, L.C. Wrobel and H. Power, Boundary element approach to mass and charge transport in electrochemical cells, *Engineering Analysis with Boundary Elements* 15(4) (1995) 299-312.
- [94] Z.H. Shao, Robust Stability of Two-Time-Scale Systems With Nonlinear Uncertainties, *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control* 49(2) (2004) 258-261.
- [95] B.A. Schmitt, R. Weiner and K. Erdmann, Implicit parallel peer methods for stiff initial value problems, Applied Numerical Mathematics Tenth Seminar on Numerical Solution of Differential and Differential-Algebraic Equations (NUMDIFF-10) 53(2-4) (2005) 457-470.
- [96] E. Shchepakina and V. Sobolev, Integral manifolds, canards and black swans, Nonlinear Analysis, Theory, Methods and Applications 44(7) (2001) 897-908.

- [97] Y. Shi and G. Liu, Singular perturbations for a class of boundary value problems of higher order nonlinear differential equations. Applied Mathematics and Mechanics (English Edition) 17(12) (1996) 1193-1201.
- [98] Y. Shi, Singular perturbations of a higher-order nonlinear vector boundary value problem, Nonlinear Analysis, Theory, Methods & Applications 28(8) (1997) 1451-1464.
- [99] I. Sirbu and H.F. King, Perturbational approach to the electron correlation cusp applied to helium- like atoms, *International Journal of Quantum Chemistry* 92(5) (2003) 433-450.
- [100] D.A. Skoog, D.M. West and F.J. Holler, Fundamentals of Analytical Chemistry, Saunders College Publishers (1991).
- [101] M. Suzuki, Singular perturbation for difference equations, Nonlinear Analysis, Theory, Methods and Applications 47(6) (2001) 4083-4093.
- [102] O.A. Taiwo, Parameter expansion method for two-point nonlinear singularlyperturbed boundary value problems, *International Journal of Computer Mathematics* 55(3-4) (1995) 189-196.
- [103] X.S. Tang and G.C. Sih, Weak and strong singularities reflecting multiscale damage: Micro-boundary conditions for free-free, fixed-fixed and free-fixed constraints, *Theoretical and Applied Fracture Mechanics* 43(1) (2005) 5-62.
- [104] U. Tautenhahn, On the method of Lavrentiev regularization for nonlinear illposed problems, *Inverse Problems* 18(1) (2002) 191-207.

- [105] O.T. TBruhns, H. Xiao and A. Meyers, Large simple shear and torsion problems in kinematic hardening elasto-plasticity with logarithmic rate, *International Journal of Solids and Structures* 38(48-49) (2001) 8701-8722.
- [106] H.D. Tuan and S. Hosoe, Multivariable circle criteria for multiparameter singularly perturbed systems, *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control* 45(4) (2000) 720-725.
- [107] W.T. Van Horssen, On integrating vectors and multiple scales for singularly perturbed ordinary differential equations, Nonlinear Analysis, Theory, Methods and Applications 46(1) (2001) 19-43.
- [108] W.T. Van Horssen, On a perturbation method based on integrating vectors, Nonlinear Analysis, Theory, Methods and Applications 47(3) (2001) 2133-2144.
- [109] R. Vulanović, Fourth order algorithms for a semilinear singular perturbation problem, Numer. Algor. 16 (1997) 117-128.
- [110] R. Vulanović, A priori meshes for singularly perturbed quasilinear two-point boundary value problems, IMA J. Numer. Anal. 21 (2001) 349-366.
- [111] T. Wagenknecht, Bifurcation of a reversible Hamiltonian system from a fixed point with fourfold eigenvalue zero, *Dynamical Systems* 17(1) (2002) 29-44.
- [112] Z. Wang and H. Hu, Dimensional reduction for nonlinear time-delayed systems composed of stiff and soft substructures, Nonlinear Dynamics 25(4) (2001) 317-331.

- [113] G. Wang and L. Jin, Third-order nonlinear singularly perturbed boundary value problem, Applied Mathematics and Mechanics (English Edition) 23(6) (2002) 670-677.
- [114] L. Wang, A novel method for a class of nonlinear singular perturbation problems, Applied Mathematics and Computation (New York) 156(3) (2004) 847-856.
- [115] V.W. Weekman and R.L. Gorring, Influence of volume change on gas-phase reactions in porus catalysts, J. Catalysts 4 (1965) 260-270.
- [116] G.S.Weiss, A parabolic free boundary problem with double pinning, Nonlinear Analysis, Theory, Methods and Applications 57(2) (2004) 153-172.
- [117] Z. Weili, Singular perturbations for nonlinear Robin problems, Journal of Computational and Applied Mathematics 81(1) (1997) 59-74.
- [118] F.A. Williams, Theory of combustion in Laminar Flows, Ann. Rev. Fluid Mech.3 (1971) 171-188.
- [119] Z. Wu and Y. Chen, New bifurcation patterns in elementary bifurcation problems with single-side constraint, Applied Mathematics and Mechanics (English Edition) 22(11) (2001) 1260-1267.
- [120] X. Yan, Singularly perturbed differential/algebraic equations. I: asymptotic expansion of outer solutions, *Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications* 207(2) (1997) 326-344.

- [121] Y. Yang and C. Zhou, Robust adaptive fuzzy tracking control for a class of perturbed strict-feedback nonlinear systems via small-gain approach, *Information Sciences* 170(2-4) (2005) 211-234.
- [122] X. Zhang, Geodesics, nonlinear normal modes of conservative vibratory systems and decomposition method, *Journal of Sound and Vibration* 282(3-5) (2005) 971-989.
- [123] Y. Zhou Z. You and Z. Lin, Singular perturbation of general boundary value problem for nonlinear differential equation system, Applied Mathematics and Mechanics (English Edition) 19(6) (1998) 531-538.

